NURSERY FABLES

HWD I/c

The.

Graw Eliza Surner from her herd friend





THE LITTLE BOY AND THE LIZARD.





THE MONKEY AND LAPDOG.

FABLES

FOR THE NURSERY:

ORIGINAL AND SELECT.

NEW EDITION.

LONDON:
GRANT AND GRIFFITH,

SUCCESSORS TO

J. HARRIS, CORNER OF ST. PAUL'S CHURCHYARD.



CONTENTS.

	rage
The Little Boy and the Lizard; or, mutual Kindness	1
The Monkey and the Lapdog	13
Vanity punished; or, the Peacock that would go to the Fair.	26
Velvet and Busy; or, Idleness and Industry	42
The Three Hedgehogs; or, Punishment for Disobedience	50
The Danger of keeping Bad Company	61
The Learned Pig; or, the Folly of Discontent	85
The Ape and the Ass	105
The Proud Frog	112
The Grateful Crane	120
The King of the Fen	125
The Covetous Boy and the Goose	133

								Page
The	Peacock and hi	is Fello	w-'	Traveller	s			136
	Second	Part						142
The	Young Stag							144
The	Shetland Pony							148
The	Rook and the l	Pitcher						157
Mad	lge, the Owl							165
The	Faithful Dog							173



FABLES FOR THE NURSERY.

THE LITTLE BOY AND THE LIZARD; OR, MUTUAL KINDNESS.

In a West India planter's garden lived a family of green lizards, under the roots of a spreading palm-tree. These beautiful and harmless little creatures led a pleasant life—basking in the rays of the sun, sporting with their shadows, chasing one another among the grass and flowers, or catching flies and insects; and but for the dread of birds of prey and serpents, they would have been quite happy.

The old lizards took great care of their young ones; and, while they slept or played, kept watch near them, lest the birds of prey should pounce upon them, or the snakes glide from their holes to destroy them: they joined them in all their playful sports; they taught them to rob the spiders' webs, to catch ants, and snare flies.*

"Be careful," said the old lizard one

^{*} Lizards have a gummy liquor contained in the throat, with which they wet the leaves of any plant near which the flies are used to hover; and when the flies light on them, their wings and feet are so clogged that they cannot escape, and become an easy prey to the lizard.

day to his young ones, "how far you venture from the shade of this tree. Your mother and I must leave you, to take a journey of some hours; and, as danger often comes unawares, I advise you all to keep close together, and let one stand guard while the rest sleep or play."

The little lizards said that they would do as he bade them, and not stray away in his absence.

For some time the lizards were very careful; and first one kept watch on the boughs of the palm-tree, and then another; and, had they always been as prudent, they would have done very well: but one of the lizards, who was called Sprightly, was very fond of play; and

when it was her turn to keep watch, she said, "I am tired of being in this dull tree by myself, while you are all so merrily playing below. I see neither bird nor beast near to annoy us, so I may as well come down." The other lizards, who loved Sprightly very much, said, "Yes, come down, if there is nothing near to hurt us." Then Goldstar (who was called so from a mark like a star on her head) said, "Let us go and search for flies in the spiders' webs; I saw the spiders weaving late last night, and I dare say we shall find plenty of flies trapped."

Then all the lizards went to the bushes where the spiders had laid their nets the night before to entangle the poor flies; and they darted their long tongues into the webs, and soon ate all the flies; and when the spiders came to look for their prey, they found their nets broken and their prisoners gone.

The lizards next went to catch ants, and when they were tired they lay down on the grass to sleep; but while these careless creatures slept, a great serpent, who had watched them for some time, glided from the thicket where he had lain hidden, sprang out upon them, and seized poor Sprightly, and devoured her, while the others fled away in terror.

Swiftfoot ran up the palm-tree, Longtail sought shelter in the nest, and Goldstar ran far away into the middle of the garden; nor did she rest till she found herself close to a summer-house, near the door of which she hid herself.

All night long did Goldstar grieve for the death of her pretty playmate Sprightly: "I shall never be able to return to my home and friends," said she; "and the serpent will destroy my parents, and Swiftfoot my sister, and Longtail my brother, who used to make me so merry with their pretty gambols; but I shall never see them again."

The next day Goldstar sought for a spot where she might live in safety, and she soon found a nice hole in a green turf bank close to the summer-house.

Here she passed her time pleasantly enough; and would have been quite

happy, only she was sometimes sad at being so far away from her friends and former gay companions.

One day, as she was sunning herself and playing with her own shadow on the window of the summer-house, she was somewhat alarmed by the approach of a little boy, with a basket of flowers in one hand and a light cane twig in the other; she had not time to retreat, but stood trembling with fear lest he should strike her with the cane he held: but Carlos (for that was the little boy's name) had often amused himself by watching the green lizards at play under the palm-trees in the garden, and he would not have killed or hurt one of

those innocent little animals for the world, and Goldstar soon found she had little cause to fear.

Carlos threw down his flowers on the bench by the window, and began tying them in bunches and weaving a garland for his hair; his sweet and smiling air gave Goldstar courage, and she began to frolic in the sunbeams as before.

The brilliant colours of this little creature, her slender shape, her bright green coat, marked with chains of a golden hue, and her starry eyes, as she glided swiftly to and fro, attracted the notice of the little boy, who ceased to play with his flowers, and drew near to watch her motions.

The little boy and the lizard soon became such good friends, that, as soon as Goldstar heard Carlos's step in the garden, she ran to meet him; and Carlos came every day to visit his pretty green lizard, and see her at play on the bank, and watch her cunning tricks in robbing the spiders' webs and snaring flies.

One evening, as Carlos was walking in the garden, he chanced to see a large fierce bird hovering in the air near the summer-house, and preparing to dart on something below: "It is my pretty favourite that this wicked bird would make its prey," cried Carlos; and ran with all the speed he could, shouting as he went. The noise he made scared the bird from its pursuit; and Carlos gladly saw his pretty Goldstar retreat to her hole in safety, while the bird flew screaming far away.

From this time Goldstar sought by every playful caress to show her gratitude, and the joy she felt at the sight of her friend: she would permit him to take her in his hand; and, if she could have spoken, she would have thanked him for having saved her from the talons of the hawk.

One very hot day, Carlos came to the summer-house, which was a cool and pleasant place, shaded with trees and sweet-scented shrubs: tired with the heat, Carlos threw himself on a mat and fell asleep; but he had not lain long, when something ran across his face and

hands: he felt vexed and peevish at being thus annoyed, and tried to chase away the intruder with his hand, but in vain; for as soon as he closed his eyes, Goldstar (for it was she who continued to disturb him) awoke him. Carlos roused himself in a pet, and tried to shake her off, but she sought refuge in his bosom: at that moment, when he became quite angry, and was about to throw her on the ground, his eyes were riveted by an object which filled him with terror.—It was a large snake, that, with head erect and eyes fixed upon him, was slowly gliding towards the spot where he lay; and he knew that it was one of those reptiles whose bite was certain death.

-It was to warn him of his danger that his faithful little lizard had entered the summer-house window, and, by her gentle efforts, at last roused him to a sense of his danger, in spite of his anger and impatience.

As Carlos started from the ground, the snake, foiled of her purpose, made a sudden retreat.

Thus was the life of this little boy saved by the gratitude and sagacity of a little lizard.

A kind action is sure to meet with a reward sooner or later; and a "good turn is never lost."

THE MONKEY AND THE LAPDOG.

ONCE upon a time a great monkey and a little lapdog lived with a lady, who was very kind to them both. One day she went out, and told them not to stir from the parlour till she came back.

Now the monkey was a great rude beast, and wanted to make the lapdog as bad as himself. As soon as their mistress had left the room, he said, "Moppet, what do you mean to do while our mistress is away?"—"Oh!" said Moppet, "I shall lie down on this soft cushion,

and go to sleep."-" That will be very silly," said the monkey; "for you can have sleep enough in the night, when you can do nothing else. Come with me, and I will show you how to spend the time much better."-" How can that be?" said the lapdog; "my mistress told us not to stir from this place; and we can have no fun here, for if we begin to play, we may break the china jars, or throw down the fire-screens, or scratch the tables and chairs, or do some mischief, for which Prue, the maid, would beat us soundly!"-" To be sure!" said the monkey; "we cannot amuse ourselves in this stupid room."

"Well, dear Mr. Pug!" said Moppet,
"I do not think there would be any

harm in our having a game of romps in the hall, if we could get out of the room."

"Oh!" said the monkey, "I can open the door when I please, as well as any one in the house." So this naughty monkey opened the door, and they both ran out of the room. They had not played in the hall many minutes, before Pug ran against his mistress's flower-stand, threw down a fine rose-tree, broke the pot, spoiled all the roses, and spilled the mould on the carpet.

"Oh dear! what a pity," said Moppet;
"Prue will be sure to beat us now.
What shall you do, Pug?"

"I shall not stay to be beat," said the monkey; "and if we run away, my mis-

tress and Prue may lay this mischief on Tib the cat." Now Moppet was as bad as Pug, for she hated Tib, and wished their fault might be laid on her: so she said, "Dear Mister Pug, I am glad you thought of that. Where shall we go?"

"In the garden first," replied he; "then we will go into the farm-yard, and have fine fun in driving about the hens and chickens, and teasing the pigs."

"Oh! I shall enjoy that of all things," said Moppet; so away they ran into the garden. Now Moppet, though she was so naughty, was a very pretty creature: she was not bigger than a cat, and had long curls of silken hair, as white as snow, that hung down to the ground, and quite hid her little feet. She had a

tiny round face, with funny black eyes peeping from under her long silk curls, like two bright black beads; and her pretty ears swept the ground as she walked. Prue, the maid, washed and combed her every day; and she had just been fresh washed before her mistress went out. There had fallen a great deal of rain in the night, and it was very dirty and muddy abroad; which was the reason her mistress did not take her out with her as usual: but Moppet never thought of that, when she scampered all over the wet garden with naughty rude Pug.

They ran on the flower beds, trampled down the flowers, and, in short, behaved as bad as a monkey and lapdog could do. At last Pug climbed up a cherrytree, and began to steal the fruit. Moppet was vexed when she saw him eating the cherries. "You must not do that," she said. "Why not?" asked Pug.

"Because my mistress will be very angry, when she finds her early cherries gone!" said Moppet.

"Oh! never mind," said Pug; "she will not lay the theft on you, for she knows you cannot climb trees."

Moppet did not think it very pleasant to remain at the foot of the tree, while the monkey was eating the ripe cherries—for he never gave her so much as one—so she did not bark, to give him notice when the gardener was coming, who caught Pug as he came down the tree,

and gave him a sound whipping with a hazel twig.

Pug set up a sad howl, and was very glad when he got out of the gardener's hands, who whipped both him and Moppet out of the garden.

Then they went into the yard, and drove the poor hens and chicks about, and were highly amused to see what a fright they were in. At last they began to tease a litter of sucking pigs, but the sow bit Moppet by the ear, till she cried out for mercy; while Pug, instead of helping her out of her distress, ran away.

Moppet's ear bled sadly; she was in a great deal of pain, and whined for a long time after the sow let her go. Any one would have thought Moppet had suffered enough through Pug's bad advice, and that she would not have minded any thing more he said to her: but she was a very silly creature; and when Pug came to her, and told her he was sorry the sow had hurt her so much, and asked her to go into the meadow with him, Moppet left off crying, and did as he bade her.

Now the grass was so high, that they could not run about at their ease among it; but in the next field they saw two old geese and a flock of goslings.

"Oh!" said wicked Pug, "how I should like to tease those goslings!—It would be such fun to see them clap their wings, and run hissing about!"

"Yes," said Moppet, "I should like it of all things; but you know, dear Mister Pug, I cannot get across that broad muddy ditch."—"Oh!" said Pug, "I will carry you over on my back."

So they crossed the ditch; and Pug took a stick, and began to drive the goslings on one side, while Moppet ran barking on the other. They thought this fine sport, and only laughed at the terror the little creatures were in. But the gander, who was very fierce and strong, bit Pug by the heel, while the goose beat Moppet with her wings, till they both raised a most dismal outcry.

The geese did not let them go till they had punished them for the cruel manner in which they had treated their young ones; and Moppet and Pug were glad to scamper away faster than they came.

When they reached the side of the ditch, Pug jumped over, and left poor Moppet on the other side, to shift for herself as she could.

"Oh, dear!" said she, "what shall I do? Dear Pug, come back for me!"—
"Why do not you swim across?" asked he. "Because," answered Moppet, "I shall cover myself with mud: and Prue will beat me sadly if I come home in such a plight."

"Your servant, Miss Moppet!" said Pug; "I have no more mind to dirt my fur, than you have to wet that fine curled coat, of which you are so proud." So this unkind monkey ran home, and left poor Moppet to get through the ditch as she could. Moppet now saw how unwise she had been in taking Pug's bad advice; and wished, when it was too late, that she had attended to the commands of her mistress.

It was getting late, and Moppet was very hungry, and thought it was better to swim across the ditch than to stay there all night. I wish you could have seen her when she came through the ditch! she had not a spot of white about her, and her long ears were dripping with mud.

When she came home she was quite ashamed to be seen: even the cat would not speak to her; and all the servants held up their hands and cried, "Is this dirty little beast our pretty Moppet?"

The footman, Joe, took her to the pump in the yard, and pumped on her till she was half dead, before he would let her go into the house; and then he could not get half the mud off her coat.

Then Prue put her in a tub, and washed her with a scrubbing-brush, and scolded her all the time: and when she tried to comb her long curls, they were so matted together, that she pulled them out by handfuls; which put Moppet to a great deal of pain. Oh, how she did cry!-but it was of no use. Prue told her she was rightly served for having been so very naughty; and when she brought her into the parlour, Moppet hung down her ears, and was afraid to look at her kind mistress, after having behaved so very ill.

Now, I suppose, you want to know what was done to Pug, when all his faults were found out. Joe, the footman, beat him with the horsewhip, and chained him to a post in the stable, where he was kept in disgrace, by himself, for a whole week.

So the monkey and lapdog, like a great many more, found out the folly of such bad conduct, and resolved never to behave ill for the time to come.

VANITY PUNISHED; OR, THE PEACOCK THAT WOULD GO TO THE FAIR.

THERE was once a proud peacock, who was so vain of his fine plumes and gay train, that he looked with disdain on all the geese, and turkeys, and ducks, and hens, that lived in the same yard. They did not approve of the pert airs the peacock gave himself; for he would strut before them and say, "Look at me, and admire my beauty! Observe my fine crest and gay plumage! Which of you can display a train like mine? You have only dull brown and gray feathers, and are very plain birds."

Now the geese, and turkeys, and cocks

VANITY PUNISHED.





VELVET AND BUSY.



and hens, were all very angry when they heard the peacock make this rude speech; for they thought themselves quite as good as this vain bird,-for he did nothing but walk about and admire himself, and dress his feathers, while they were hatching their eggs, or taking care of young broods. To show their contempt for his foolish speeches, they made him no answer, but walked away, leaving him quite alone. This conduct vexed the peacock very much.

"How I hate this dull place," said he, "where there is no one to admire my fine plumage! These barn-door fowls are so envious, and think so much of themselves, that my beauty is quite lost and wasted." What a pity the peacock was so vain and silly as to be so proud of his gay dress! But he was soon cured of his folly, as you shall hear.

One fine day, as the peacock was basking in the sun, he saw little Mabel, his master's daughter, come from the house, dressed very smartly, with a white frock, a long pink sash, and a new straw hat trimmed with knots of pink ribbon. "Dear me!" said the peacock to himself, "how fine Miss Mabel is dressed to-day!"

Just then her little brother ran up to her and said, "Mabel, where are you going dressed so gay?"—"I am going to the fair, brother," said she; "and you know I must look a little smarter than usual, for there will be so many gay people there to see me."

"Oh, ho!" said the peacock; "if a fair is the place where people go to be seen in their best clothes, I will be there also; for I am sure my feathers are finer than Miss Mabel's muslin frock and pink ribbons."

He then began to dress his plumes with great care, and went to the pond to look at his shadow in the water. He spent some time in viewing himself; then walked forth through the gate, and ran and flew till he reached the road that led to the town where the fair was kept.

Though the sun shone bright and warm, the road was very dirty; and

he had some trouble to prevent his gay plumage from being wetted and spoiled by the mud and sloughs he was forced to pass through.

There were a great many folks going the same way to the fair, who stopped to admire the peacock.

"What a fine bird!" said one; "Look at his crest and neck!" said a second; "I should like to see how he looks with his train spread," said a third. In short, they all said something handsome of him.

The peacock was so pleased at hearing all these remarks on his beauty, that he spread out his tail like a fan, held up his head, and strutted along the road with an air of great state. "How much more sense these people have," said he, "than those foolish cocks and hens that think so much of themselves! How glad I am I thought of going to the fair!" But his joy soon fled; for, as he was proudly strutting along, three great ploughboys, who wanted to look smart at the fair, came behind him, and, before he was aware, tore out three of the gayest feathers in his train. The peacock was in a great rage, as you may well suppose; but the boys only ran away laughing; and he had the grief to see them enter the fair with his very best plumes stuck in their hats, while he looked quite shabby, with a great gap in his tail.

The peacock went fretting along till

he reached the entrance of the town: he then smoothed his ruffled feathers and put his train in the best order he could.

He had not gone far before he fell in with a large flock of geese and some pigs, that a boy was driving into the fair to sell.

The peacock was in great distress when he found himself in the midst of such a throng. He tried to push his way through the flock; but the geese took no notice of him, kept close together, and would not let him pass.

The peacock was very angry at their rudeness, and said with a haughty air, "Make way for me, if you please, and pray do not crowd me in this manner: I

shall have my fine train entirely spoiled by your dirty feet!"—"And who cares if it is, Mr. Pert?" said an old gray goose, with an air of great contempt: "my wings and tail are quite as good as yours."

The peacock was very angry that the goose should presume to think herself as handsome as he. "You rude bird!" said he, "learn how to behave to your betters for the time to come;" and gave the goose a severe peck on her back; which so enraged the whole flock of geese, that they flew towards him with one accord and beat and pecked him without mercy. The peacock fought and screamed; the geese hissed and flapped their wings;

and, to add to the uproar, the pigs joined the fray, and squeaked and grunted at a great rate.

The peacock, finding he was likely to come but badly off, made the best of his way down the street, where he saw a great throng of people round a man who was showing off a box of puppets. The peacock ran with all the speed he could, to see what was going forward. He had never seen a puppet-show, and he wanted much to take a peep: but the people were all so busy looking at the show, that they paid no regard to him: one pushed him into the kennel, another trod on his toes, and his fine train was all splashed with dirt, and quite spoiled.

The peacock was so vexed at this uncivil treatment, that he began to scold and scream, making a great noise and outcry: but he would have been much wiser if he had held his peace; for some boys seeing him, cried out, "A peacock, a peacock! let us catch him and pull out all his fine feathers!" This put the poor peacock in a sad fright: away he ran and sought shelter under a cakestall, and crept into the darkest corner. Here he thought to have been safe from harm: but, alas! his troubles were not yet at an end; for a great black dog, that had stolen a cake, ran under the stall where the peacock had hidden himself. "This great ugly beast has come here to insult me!" said the peacock, who was in a very ill humour; and he grumbled and scolded so loud, that the dog, out of all patience, said, "Hold your tongue, you cross creature, or I will teach you better manners!"

The peacock, not at all pleased with this reproof, said, "How dare you come here, sir, to affront me?" and very rudely flapped his wing in the dog's face.

"You ugly, shabby bird!" said the dog, "I have as much right to be here as you." The peacock was so angry at being called a shabby, ugly bird, that he gave the dog a peck on the nose; and the dog, in return, pulled a mouthful of feathers out of the peacock's neck; and would soon have killed him, but a farmer, who by chance passed that way,

seized him, and, spite of his screams, tucked him under his arm, and never stopped till he reached his own house.

The farmer put the peacock into a dark hole where he kept coals and wood, and shut the door so close that he could by no means make his escape.

The peacock was very angry, and flounced about, and made a sad noise; but he soon found it was of no use trying to get out, for he only broke the feathers of his train, and covered himself with coal-dust.

Hungry and sad, he began to reflect with sorrow on his hapless case. "Ah! foolish bird that I was," said he, "to be so vain of my fine plumage! How I wish I had stayed at home with the other fowls in the poultry-yard, instead of going to a place where I had no business! If ever I get out of this dirty coal-hole, I will be as modest and humble as I was before vain and proud." Now these were the wisest words the peacock had ever spoken.

Next morning the farmer's children came to look at the peacock, and threw a little dross corn for him to eat. Hunger had made him so tame, that he gladly ate all the food that the children gave him. That very afternoon, little Mabel and her brother came to play with the farmer's children: "Come and look," said one of them, "at a great bird my father caught last night in the fair!"

They all ran to take a peep; and the farmer's children opened the door of the coal-house, where the poor peacock stood looking very dirty and shabby. "Dear me!" said little Billy, "I think this must be our own peacock!"

"Our peacock, indeed!" said Mabel;
"I am sure this dirty creature is not our handsome peacock! He had a fine train full of gay plumes; while this shabby bird has scarcely a feather in his tail, and his neck is half stripped, and his crest not fit to be seen. I am sure this cannot be our pretty peacock: if it is, I shall never care to look at him again."

This was sad news for the poor peacock, who wanted much to get out of his dark prison; and he was much vexed when Mabel and Billy shut the door and went away.

When the little girl and boy came home, they ran to the yard to look for the peacock; but he was not there, and the cow-boy said he had seen him the day before walking in the road.

Next day the peacock was sent for home; and he was glad to return once more to the poultry-yard. The turkeys, and geese, and cocks and hens, that he used to treat with such disdain, all came round him, and said, " Is this the proud peacock, who thought himself so much better than we? he is shabby enough now!" The peacock was very much hurt at this speech; but as he knew how silly his conduct had been, he spoke to

them very meekly, and said he would never be proud again.

The mishaps which had befallen the peacock when he went to the fair, taught him wisdom; and he never from that day boasted of his beauty, nor despised those birds that were not so gay as himself; but was so humble and kind to all the fowls, that they forgave him his former faults, and they lived very good friends all the rest of their lives.

VELVET AND BUSY; OR, IDLENESS AND INDUSTRY.

THERE were two bees, one called Velvet and the other Busy. Velvet had fine gauze wings, and a black body marked with stripes of bright yellow: but though she was so pretty, she was not good; she was lazy, and loved play, and flying about from flower to flower; she ate all the honey she gathered, and brought home none to increase the common store.

Busy, who was only a plain brown bee, was at work from morning till night; she brought home plenty of

honey and wax, and was the most industrious bee in the whole nest. One fine spring day, Velvet and Busy left their nest in the wood, to seek for honey (for they were wild bees, and did not live in a hive, but in the hollow branch of a tree). The fields were full of daisies and cowslips, the wild roses and honeysuckles bloomed in the hedges, the sky was serene, and the birds sung from every bush.

Busy sought the fresh-opened blossoms of the cowslip, and was soon intent on the labours of the day; whilst Velvet—idle Velvet! flew from flower to flower, tasting the honey from each, and humming gaily as she went. She enjoyed herself some time in this manner;

but, like most idle people, she grew weary, and said to Busy,—"I hate daisies and cowslips: leave this dull meadow, and fly with me into yonder garden; the sun shines warmer there, and the borders of the garden are gay with fullgrown roses, and pinks, and lilacs."

"There is richer and sweeter honey in these cowslip-bells," said Busy, "than among the roses and pinks you admire so much; and, if we spend our time in flying about, we shall bring home but small store of honey, and shall perish with hunger when the cold weather returns."

"There will be plenty for us," said careless Velvet.

"No," said Busy; "I will never eat

the fruits of another's labour, when I am able to work for myself."

"You may do as you please," said Velvet; "for my part, I shall not waste all the fine weather in working. Look at the butterflies; they do nothing but enjoy themselves, fluttering among the flowers, and chasing one another - they are happy creatures, and I shall go and play with them;" and away flew this idle bee to the garden, where the butterflies were gaily sporting. But the butterflies showed no regard for Velvet, and would not play with her; and she soon grew tired of watching them, and looking at the brilliant colours in their gay wings as they fluttered past her: so she left them, and flew away over the garden.

At last she came to an apple-tree in full bloom, whose boughs overhung a pond of clear water. "Ah!" said Velvet, "how sweet these blossoms are! there is no tree like this in the meadow: how glad I am I left Busy, and flew hither!"

The water was so clear in the pond, that Velvet saw all the shadows of the blossoms that hung over it, and her own form reflected among them: just at that instant, while Velvet was looking at her own image in the water, a sudden breeze shook the boughs of the tree so roughly, that it scattered the flowers on which she was resting; and not being on her guard, she fell into the water, and was borne by the motion of the wind into the middle of the pond.

What would silly Velvet now have given, had she but taken the advice of prudent Busy, and stayed in the fields. She strove to raise her wings, and fly from the surface of the water; but they were so clogged and heavy with wet, that she had no power to move them.

For some time Velvet floated on the water: the wind wafted her more than once to the very edge of the pond; but, alas! she could not get out, and before night came on poor Velvet was drowned.

Now I suppose you would like to know what became of Busy. She gathered much store of honey and wax that day; but she did not forget her companion, and wondered what had become of Velvet: she thought she would return at night to the nest in the wood; but night came, and, though all the other bees came back from their work, Velvet did not.

Busy was grieved, for she loved Velvet in spite of her idle ways; and she said, (for Busy was a good bee,) "I will go into the garden and look for Velvet, for I fear some harm has befallen her; but perhaps she was tired with wandering last night, and has fallen asleep in the flower of a foxglove or lily."

Then Busy sought Velvet among the flowers in the garden; and she asked all the wild bees she met, if they had seen Velvet. For a long time she could hear no tidings of her; till at last one said, "I was flying over the pond by

yonder apple-tree, and I saw a drowned bee floating on the water."

Then Busy went to the pond, and the first thing she saw was poor Velvet—quite dead.

"Ah, silly Velvet!" said Busy, "why did you leave me, to go and play with the butterflies in the garden? If you had not been so idle, you would not have met with so sad an end."

My little readers, I hope you will take example from the story you have just read, and,

> "Like the little busy bee, Improve each shining hour, And gather honey all the day From every opening flower."



THE THREE HEDGEHOGS; OR, PUNISH-MENT FOR DISOBEDIENCE.

An old hedgehog, and three little ones, lived in a hole under the roots of an elm-tree.

One night, the old hedgehog said to her young ones, "My dears, I am going out to look for some food for your supper: I beg you will not leave your nest while I am absent; for there are traps and dogs in the wood and in the field." The little hedgehogs said they would be good, and not go out while she was gone.

The old hedgehog then bade them good-bye; and away she trotted over the fields; she was scarcely out of sight before Bustle, the eldest hedgehog, said to his two brothers, "Now our mother is gone, let us get through the hedge, and take a nice walk in the wood."

"We had better stay where we are," said Bristle and Bob (who always minded what their mother said to them), "and not go into the wood, lest we

should meet the dog or be caught in a trap."

"Nonsense!" said Bustle; "I dare say we shall not meet any thing to hurt us; besides, I am hungry, and it will be a long time before we have our supper. The wood is a pleasant-looking place; and I will go and dig for pignuts, and get crab-apples and sloes. If you are wise, you will come with me." But Bristle and Bob thought it would be no great proof of wisdom to disobey their mother; so they said they would rather stay at home, and they told Bustle he had better do the same: but Bustle only laughed at his good brothers, and said, "I have a mind to see a little of the world; our mother will keep us in this

dull hole all our lives; but I mean to go and seek my fortune, and I advise you to do the same."

Bristle and Bob both begged their naughty wilful brother to stay with them, and obey their mother's commands; but Bustle at last grew very cross, and held his ears that he might not hear what they said.

Now this was very rude conduct; and Bustle had soon cause to repent of his folly, as you shall hear, if you have patience.

As I said before, this wicked little hedgehog would not attend to the advice of his brothers: but, bidding them good night, he left the hole and scrambled through the hedge into the wood. The sun was set, and the moon and stars were shining brightly through the trees; every thing was quite still, and the leaves only just rustled as the wind moved them.

"How pleasant it is in this nice wood!" thought Bustle, as he crept along among the long grass and the bushes. "How glad I am I did not attend to Bristle and Bob, who wanted me to stay at home!"

As he had taken no supper, and his walk had made him hungry, he began to look about in hopes of finding something to eat, but could find only a few worms and insects under the blades of grass: rather than fast, he ate some of these. But he had heard his mother

say there were pignuts by a little brook in the wood, so he made all the haste he could to look for them: and when he reached the bank of the little stream, he scratched with his feet, and turned up the ground with his nose; for this is the way that hedgehogs dig for their food.

He presently found some pignuts, and thought he should have a fine treat; when all on a sudden he heard a great noise among the bushes, and he called to mind the dog against which his mother and brothers had warned him,

"Oh, dear!" said he softly, "if this should be the dog, what shall I do? where shall I hide myself?"

He turned round, and began walking home as fast as he could: but hedgehogs are not very swift-footed; and before he had gone many steps, a great white dog ran up to him, and began barking and growling in a furious manner.

"What will become of me!" said Bustle; for the dog showed a set of large white teeth, which made the hedgehog fear that he was going to devour him; he trembled with terror; when a thought came into his head, that if he rolled himself up like a ball, as he was used to do when he went to sleep, the dog could not hurt him; because he was armed all over with sharp prickles like thorns, which would wound the dog if he bit or worried him. So Bustle rolled himself round, and folded his feet

up close, and hid his face between his fore-paws.

The dog was very angry, and gave the hedgehog a pat with his paw to make him move. Bustle only grunted, and nestled still closer, and would not move a step. Then the dog tried to roll him over with his paw, but Bustle's sharp prickles soon made him retreat; he ran barking round the poor hedgehog, making a sad noise, till at last, finding he could not induce him to stir, he grew tired of plaguing and teazing him, and ran away through the wood.

It was a long time before Bustle dared to look up, or stir from the spot where the dog had left him: but at last hunger got the better of his terror, and he peeped out; and when he saw the dog was gone, he said, "I am glad that cross spiteful creature is gone! now I will look for some supper:" and he began to search afresh for something to eat.

He could find only a few slugs and snails: he dared not return to the spot where the pignuts grew, for fear of meeting with the dog; so he was forced to be content with what he could get.

The moon was down, the sky was clouded over, and the night was quite dark. Bustle had never been so far from home before: he was in a sad fright, for he had lost his way; and, instead of finding the right path, he got farther and farther into the wood. Every sound filled him with alarm;

even the rustling of the leaves he fancied to be the steps of the dog coming back to worry him.

He now wished he had minded the good advice of Bristle and Bob, who were safe in the nest under the old tree, and no doubt had had a good supper and were fast asleep.

"If I should ever find my way back to the old tree," said Bustle, "I will stay at home, and never run away again."

This silly little hedgehog should have thought of this before he so rashly slighted the parting words of his mother: but it was no longer in his power to return; for as he was trotting along at full speed, he did not observe a great pit full of water, which was shaded by the bushes that grew round it: he fell in; and though he struggled, and tried all he could to get out, all his efforts were of no use, for hedgehogs cannot swim; and so poor Bustle was drowned.

Now, if this naughty little hedgehog had not been so wilful, he might have lived as long, and been as happy, as his two good brothers, Bristle and Bob.



THE DANGER OF KEEPING BAD COMPANY.





THE LEARNED PIG.

THE DANGER OF KEEPING BAD COMPANY.

There were once two little dormice who lived in a fine gilt cage, which stood on a sideboard in a handsome parlour. These two dormice had a very kind young lady for their mistress; and they ought to have been very happy, for she gave them soft clean moss every day to sleep on, and was very good to them. Instead of acorns, roots, and corn, such as other mice eat, she gave them nuts, and apples, and cakes, and sometimes a lump of white sugar; and never forgot to feed them and have their cage cleaned every morning.

One of these dormice was called Cosset, the other Gentle. Gentle was always pleased and g ateful, and was very happy and content in her cage, and never tried to make her escape: but Cosset was of a restless temper; and though he was very pretty, was so cross and rude, that he often vexed his mistress, and made poor Gentle cry.

At night, when his mistress was gone to bed, and the common gray mice came out of their holes to see what they could steal, he would try to force his way through the wires of his cage, and shake his door, that he might get out and scamper about the room, and play with them.

"How merry those grey mice are!"

said Cosset; "I wish I was not shut up in this nasty cage, and could go just where I pleased, as ney do."

An old gray mouse, who by chance heard him say this, ran up the leg of the sideboard, and, jumping on the cage, peeped down through the wires, and said, "Your servant, Mister Cosset and Mistress Gentle! would you like to make one among us to night?"

"Thank you, Mrs. Mouse," said Cosset; "but pray what is your name?"—
"My name is Grig," said the grey mouse.
"And where do you live?" asked Cosset.
"Come with me and I will show you," said Grig. "I shall be very happy to take you and Mrs. Gentle home to sup with me."

"Thank you, Mrs. Grig," said Gentle; "but I do not wish to leave my cage, or to vex my kind mistress, who is so good to me."

"But I am sure I will, if I can but find the means to get out," said naughty Cosset.

"Oh, if that is all," said Grig, "I will bite the string in pieces that holds the peg of the door, and then you can push it open."

The string was soon bitten in two, and Cosset said, "Come, Gentle, make haste, or I shall go without you." But Gentle would not go, and begged Cosset to think better of it and stay with her; but he would not: and Gentle was so vexed, when she saw Cosset going away

with a naughty rude grey mouse, that she held him by the tail, and said, "Pray, dear Cosset, do not leave me, to go with those wicked grey mice, for they will teach you to steal, and make you as bad as themselves. And I am afraid the cat will catch you, or you will meet with some mishap, if you go away."

Cosset paid no heed to what good Gentle said, and tried to get away from her all the time she was giving him such good advice; and when he found she held him too fast, he turned round, and (you will hardly believe it when I tell you) he was so cross as to bite poor Gentle's nose, and pull her nice long whiskers.

Gentle was so vexed at his unkind

conduct, that she began to cry, and let him go; and Cosset did not so much as say, "Gentle, I am sorry that I have hurt you," but ran down the leg of the sideboard with Grig, who led him to a dark hole under the door-mat. Grig bade Cosset follow her, and they both jumped down into the hole: it was a nasty dark place, full of dirt and rubbish, and smelt very ill.

There were seven or eight ugly grey mice in the hole, who stared very rudely at Cosset when he came in; and one of them said, "Pray, who is this strange mouse? and where does he come from?"

"Oh!" said another mouse, with an air of great disdain, "this is one of the fine dormice that belong to our mistress;

and he lives in the gilt cage which stands on the sideboard: I know him by his great black eyes and long tail!"

"Oh, yes!" cried the other mice, "she thinks him a very fine fellow, and fondles him, and feeds him with all sorts of nice things; while, if we only nibble a bit of cheese, she sets a trap, or leaves the cat in the room all night, to catch us."

"Well, for my part," (said the mouse who spoke first,) "I think myself quite as good as a stupid dormouse, that does nothing else but eat and sleep!"

"And so do I! and I! and I!" cried all the mice at once.

Cosset, who had not been used to such ill manners, thought these remarks very rude, and began to wish he had not left his cage; besides this, the grey mice all got round him, and ruffled his fur, and pulled his long whiskers, and stared so rudely at him, that he scarcely knew which way to look: at last Grig said, "This is my friend Mr. Cosset, the dormouse; I have brought him home with me to sup with us."

Then the grey mice, instead of saying they were glad to see him, or asking him if he was quite well, only said "Ho!" and stared harder than before.

At last one of them asked Grig what they should have for supper.

"Why, the piece of cheese we stole from our mistress last night," said she.

Ought Cosset to have eaten any of the

cheese which had been stolen from his kind mistress? Surely not! But Cosset never thought of that; when the rude mice, instead of saying, "Will you bring out the supper, Mistress Grig?" all cried out in a noisy loud voice, "Cheese,—cheese,—cheese!"

Grig set a lump of her mistress's best cheese before them; but they did not divide it as they would have done if they had known how to behave themselves; but they all jumped on the cheese, and began clawing, and gnawing, and fighting, and scratching, each snatching as large a piece as he could get.

Cosset, when he found they did not offer him any, got on the lump of cheese, and scratched, and squeaked, and fought, as rudely as any of the common mice.

After they had eaten the best of the cheese, they kicked the rind into the middle of the hole with the rest of the scraps and rubbish; and then the little mice came from the corners, where they had been watching the old ones all the time they were eating, and began to quarrel for it; and raised so much dust by kicking about the heap of rubbish and nutshells, that Cosset was almost blinded, and did nothing but sneeze. At length the old mice said, "Now let us go and see what we can steal!" and Grig popped her head out of the hole, and looked round the room to see if the coast was clear before they could venture out, and cried,

"The dog's asleep, the cat's away,
So, little mice, come out and play;
Come out of your holes without any fear,
For the candle is out and the coast is clear."

Then the mice jumped out of their hole one after another, and Cosset went with them; and they all raced about, and played such tricks, that it was well for them that puss was not in the parlour, for, if she had been, she would soon have put an end to their sports, and sent them all back to their hole faster than they came.

When the mice were tired of playing, one of them said, "What shall we do to amuse ourselves?—what can we steal?"

"Suppose," said Grig, "we gnaw the candle?" and all the mice cried, "So we will."

"Is tallow good to eat?" asked Cosset, who had never gnawed a candle in his life.

"Oh, very good indeed!" cried all the mice at once; and they all scampered up the table, and got round the candle, and began nibbling it: even Cosset stood upon his hind legs, and gnawed with the rest of these wicked little thieves.

At last, one unlucky mouse bit the wick of the candle in two; down it fell, and nearly broke Cosset's back, besides hurting two or three of the grey mice.

Cosset, who was much hurt, began to complain, and sent forth a doleful cry. Then they all began to lay the blame of

this mischance on one another; and a quarrel took place, in the course of which poor Cosset was sadly nipped and scratched, till he grew quite angry at such uncivil treatment, and began to bite and scratch in his turn: but Cosset, not having been used to such battles, came but badly off, for no one took his part; so at last he was forced to ask pardon, and beseech the grey mice not to bite him and tease him any longer.

The grey mice said they wished to be friends once more; and when they were all quiet, Cosset asked what they thought their mistress would say when she saw the broken candle? "Nonsense!" said Grig; "she will only think it is our cousins the rats."

Then the mice all agreed they would get into the store-room, and steal some nice thing or other.

When they came to the store-room, they found that the hole under the door had been stopped: so they began to make a fresh one, and even Cosset set to work to help them to gnaw a passage to get into his kind mistress's store-room; and as they worked they all joined in singing this ugly song—

Here we work with tooth and claw,
And merrily we saw and gnaw:
A passage too we soon will make,
To steal our lady's nuts and cake.
Through the door or through the wall,
We will enter, one and all.
While puss is with her kittens sleeping,
There is no fear of her sly peeping;

And Pompey snores beneath the table; So here we'll stay while we are able. When Betty lightly trips down stairs To sweep the room and brush the chairs, Then to our holes we take our flight, And come again to-morrow night.

As soon as these naughty mice had made a hole large enough to admit them, they all got through into the store-room, and whisked about over the dresser from shelf to shelf, and peeped into every pot and pan, plate and dish, seeking what they could steal.

At last one, who had found means to get into the closet, cried, "Here is the sugar-dish!" All the mice scrambled one over the other in their haste to steal the sugar, and they began eating the sugar like so many pigs.

But at last one of the grey mice saw Cosset in a corner, scratching a hole in a paper of cakes; and they all left the sugar, and soon fell to work gnawing and pulling, and tearing the paper, to get the cakes.

Now it chanced that Cosset had chosen a cake full of almonds and currants, and orange and lemon peel; and it was a very nice cake—a great deal too good for naughty dirty mice to eat; and Cosset thought he should have a fine treat.

But a grey mouse, who had fixed his eye on it as well as Cosset, said "it was the very one he had chosen, and he would have it;" but Cosset ran away with the cake into a corner, and began nibbling it there.

Then the grey mice came to try and take it away from him; Cosset held it fast with teeth and claws; but first one mouse snatched a bit, and then another, till at last the cake was broken to pieces, and made so dirty it was quite unfit to be eaten.

Cosset was in a great rage at the rude conduct of the grey mice; but when he made a complaint to his friend Grig about their ill-usage, Grig told him "to hold his tongue," and bit his ear.

Cosset, in return for this affront, bit Grig's tail; Grig raised a sad outcry, which brought all the rest of the grey mice to assist her.

Some scratched Cosset, some pulled his fur and whiskers, some bit him; and they would most likely have killed him, but a sudden noise in the next room made them all scamper away: they thought it was the cat, white Patty, coming to devour them: so they ran off through the hole in the door, leaving poor Cosset lying in a china dish, half dead from the wounds they had given him.

The dish was cold, and Cosset tried to crawl out of it, to find a warmer place to lie in; but he was so stiff and sore, he could not stir.

And now he had leisure to reflect on his folly, in leaving his nice warm cage, and kind Gentle, who was so fond of him, to go stealing with such a rude bad creature as Grig; and when Cosset thought how wicked he had been, in helping these mice to steal his mistress's nice cakes and sugar, and spoiling her candle, and gnawing her store-room door, he could not but own he had been rightly served; for what could he expect but ill-treatment from such bad company as he had chosen to mix with that night?

It was late next morning before his mistress came into the store-room; and when she did come, and saw her sugar dirtied, and her nice cakes all crumbled and spoiled, she was quite vexed, and said, "Oh, dear! what can have been in my store-room, stealing my cakes and sugar in this manner?"

But she soon found out it was the

mice who had done the mischief, when she saw the hole under the door, and the fur and whiskers lying about which had been pulled off in the fray.

"I will have the cat sent for," said she, "and set a trap to catch these wicked mice." Cosset, who was in a sad fright when he heard his mistress talk of shutting puss in the store-room, gave a dismal squeak; and his mistress, looking about, soon saw his black eyes peeping at her with a mournful air over the side of one of her china dishes.

"My naughty little pet!" said she, "how came you here in my store-room, so far from your cage? and who can have used you in so cruel a manner?" and Miss Carey gently took her poor dormouse in her hand, and coaxed down his ruffled fur.

Cosset thought how wrong he had been in joining the grey mice in robbing so kind a mistress, and he felt quite ashamed of his bad conduct.

If Cosset could have spoken, he would have said, "Dear mistress, I have been a very naughty mouse; but I am very sorry for all I have done, and I will be very good and tame for the time to come, if you will take me into favour, and love me as you used to do."

Cosset's good mistress put him once more into his cage, but took care to secure it so well that he might not make his escape a second time.

When Gentle saw poor Cosset in such a sad plight, she was quite grieved, and forgave him his unkind treatment of her the night before; nor did she once mention it to him, but licked him all over, and gave him the best of the food which her mistress had given her: and Cosset said he never would leave her again to go with such bad creatures as common grey mice; and Cosset and Gentle lived all the rest of their lives as happy as two dormice could live.

Now, should you like to know what became of wicked Grig and the grey mice who had treated Cosset so rudely?

When Betty, the maid, took up the carpet to sweep the room, she spied the hole under the door-mat where Grig lived.

"Oh ho!" said Betty, "I am glad I have found out at last where those wicked little thieves live, who get into the pantry and eat the bread and cheese, and steal my mistress's sugar and cakes."

So she sent for Fen, the rat-catcher, who brought a ferret with him. The ferret whisked into the hole, caught Grig and ate her up in a trice, and then killed all the rest of these naughty mice.

Now, if they had stayed in the fields, getting their living in an honest way, instead of making holes in the house where they had no right to come, they would not have been snapped up by the ferret.

I think they were all rightly served, as they were such wicked mice: and it

was a good thing for Cosset that he did not return to the hole under the doormat with the common mice; for if he had been found in such bad company, he would have met with the same fate, and been eaten by the ferret as they were.

THE LEARNED PIG; OR, THE FOLLY OF DISCONTENT.

"DEAR me!" said the pigs to the chickens, "where are our young ladies going in such haste?"—"And the maids, too, dressed so smart?" said the geese, stretching their long necks across the gutter to look after them.

"I'll go ask the cat," said a duck that was dabbling in the mud close by; "for she hears all the secrets of the house:" and away she went as fast as she could walk; but ducks are not the best travellers in the world, and a great dog overset her as she crossed the yard.

Barker, for that was the name of the dog, had not the good manners to assist her to rise, or even to say, "Mrs. Waddle, I am sorry for your fall;" but leaped over the wall, and ran full speed towards the road.

The duck was very angry at his rudeness, and quacked with all her strength; but as the dog was out of hearing, and she was very curious to learn the cause of so much bustle, she shook her ruffled feathers and went on. She had not gone far, before she met the cat with her three kittens by her side.

The duck saw that the cat was in haste, and that she and the kits had all been newly washed, and their coats shone like satin.

"Pray, Mrs. Mouser," said the duck, speaking as softly as she could, "where may you and the Miss Mousers your kittens be going, so neat and trim, this fine day?"

The old cat had no mind to stop and gossip with the duck; but she thought it wisest not to affront her, as she might chance to peck her or the kits with her broad beak, if she was uncivil to her: so she put on a smiling look, and said, "Dear me, Mrs. Waddle, do not you know there is a fine sight to be seen on the green close by our house? There is a show with all sorts of strange beasts in it. A learned pig, dancing dogs, a monkey that smokes a pipe, and a singing parrot, and many fine things besides. My master and mistress, all our young ladies, the maids, and Barker our housedog, are all gone to see them, and I and my kittens are going as fast as we can. I hope I shall have the pleasure of your company there; but I am in great haste, so I wish you good day for the present;" and away went the cat, and her three kittens after her.

"I do not see any reason why I should stay at home any more than the cat and Barker," said the duck: so she made all the haste she could back, to tell the news to the pigs, and geese, and chickens; and they all agreed to go with her and see the sight.

They had some trouble in making their way through the crowd that stood round the show. The pigs could scarcely get a peep, and as to the fowls, they were quite lost in the throng; till a cock, that was wiser than the rest, flew on to the top of the show, where he saw all that was going forward, and was followed by the chickens, and ducks, and geese. The pigs were very angry when they saw what a fine view the fowls had, while they could scarcely see at all.

"Gentlemen and ladies," said the master of the show, "you shall now see what is worth seeing! a sight such as you may never see again!" and he drew up a curtain as he spoke, and began playing a quick minuet on a fife. At the sound of the fife, two little French

dogs, dressed in blue jackets, with scarlet and black caps on their heads, came on to the stage, and made bows all round to the company, and began to dance; and they danced on their hind legs, and looked very funny for near half an hour. Then they made bows again, and left off; and every one caressed them, and gave them cakes to eat.

"How I wish I was one of these dancing dogs!" said Barker to himself; "they must lead a pleasant life: they are dressed fine, have a nice house to live in, have nothing to do but to dance a little, and every one fondles and feeds them; while I live hardly, and no one takes notice of or caresses me:" and

Barker began to be quite out of humour, and growled sadly.

The next thing that came on to the stage was a monkey, dressed like a sailor, with a red worsted nightcap on his head; and he had a pipe in his mouth, which he smoked while he danced a hornpipe. Then his master gave him a stick, which he toppled over, and played such antics, and made such droll grimaces, that all the people laughed to see his tricks.

When this was done, he took off his red cap and held it round to the company; and some gave him nuts, and some oranges and apples, and some put in halfpence.

The monkey carried the halfpence to his master, and cracked the nuts; the apples and oranges he peeled, and flung the peel among the crowd.

"It is a fine thing to have nothing to do but to topple over a stick, and have the best of fruit to eat," said the pigs to the cat, as they were eating the peel which Pug had thrown away. "I think so, indeed!" said Mrs. Mouser the cat: "for my part, I know that if I do not catch mice, and provide for myself, I might starve for what any one cared."

The showman next brought a fine green parrot in a gilt cage, and set it on the table, and said, "Pretty Poll, speak to the ladies and gentlemen." The parrot at these words held up her head, and

said, "How do you do this fine morning? Will you give a groat to hear poor Poll sing?"

Then the people clapped their hands, and said, "Sing, pretty Polly! sing!" and the parrot sang, "God save the King:" and when she had done singing, she said, "Now pay for poor Poll's pretty song;" and all the people gave the parrot money, and cakes, and sugar.

When the chickens, and ducks, and geese saw this, they were very envious, and said one to another, "It is a good thing to be able to squall and make a noise:" and the cock said, "I am sure, if these people knew what fine voices some of us have, they would not so much as listen to this green bird."

Then the cock flapped his wings, and began to crow as loud as he could; the hens cackled, the ducks quacked, and the geese hissed and gabbled so loud, that had you been there you would have been almost stunned by their clamour.

Instead of being praised for their noise, the people were all very angry, and threw stones and dirt at them, and said, "Hold your tongues, you noisy birds, or we will wring your necks." The fowls were not at all pleased by this treatment, you may be sure; and they prated a great deal, but no one cared for their airs.

"Now, my friends," said the showman, "here is the rarest sight of all to be seen:" as he spoke, he opened a side door, and called with a loud voice, "Toby, Toby, Toby! come forth, Toby, and show the company what you can do." At these words, a fine fat pig, as white as snow, trotted on to the stage, adorned with bunches of sky-blue ribbons.

"This is Toby, the learned pig, ladies and gentlemen; and a very clever fellow he is, quite unlike the dirty stupid pigs you see in farm-yards."

The pigs that were among the crowd squeaked and grunted with rage at hearing this; but the man went on: "Now, Toby, tell us what is the time of day." Then, to the wonder of all the bystanders, Toby made twelve scratches

on the ground with his right foot, and ten with his left, to show that it was ten minutes past twelve o'clock.

"See, gentlemen and ladies," said the master of the show, "it is ten minutes past twelve by my watch." He then took from his pocket a pack of cards, and said to a man who stood nigh, "Choose a card from this pack, and give the rest to Toby, and he will point out the number of the card that you have taken." The man did so; and Toby, having first shuffled them with his foot, made seven scratches, to show that a seven was the card wanting.

"Now find out which is the greatest rogue present," said the showman; and, to the delight of all the company, Toby went up to his own master and squeaked.

"Toby, what do you deserve when you misbehave yourself and are stupid?" The pig brought a stick in his mouth, and laid it at his master's feet, with a pitiful whine.

"Now, Toby, shake hands with the ladies and gentlemen." The pig walked round the stage, and gave his foot to all near him. These tricks, and many more quite as strange, did Toby the learned pig perform before the company; who wondered that a pig should possess so much knowledge. They scratched his head, and gave him as many apples and pears as he liked to eat.

The other pigs were ready to die with spite at Toby's good fortune; and when the show was over, they all went grumbling home to the farm-yard.

The pigs and poultry, and dogs and cats, were in an ill-humour the rest of that day, and did nothing but complain of the hardness of their lot. "It is a shame," said Barker, "that I should have such scanty fare, and live in a dirty kennel, while these French dogs are so happy and well fed! They are not chained up at night to watch the house and yard, that the family may rest in safety, as I am. I wish I belonged to the showman, and I should have a pleasant time of it, for I should only have to dance and caper about a little."

"You are not half so badly off as I am," said the cat: "if you are chained up at night, you get plenty of bones and milk, and a bit of good meat now and then, to strengthen you: while I, who keep the house free from rats and mice, never get a morsel, unless I steal it, and then I am sure to be beaten by the maids, if they find me out. Besides, I am obliged to provide for three great lazy kittens, who suck, and tease me all day with their foolish tricks."

"As for us," said the pigs, "we are fed on nothing but sour swill and grains, and the refuse of the kitchen; and if we go into the fields or gardens, to help ourselves to what we like best, we are whipped home; or if we turn up the ground to look for earth-nuts and roots, they put rings in our noses. Is not ours an unhappy case?"

"True, brothers!" grunted a fatted hog, poking his nose through the rails of his sty; "but mine is far worse. You have the range of the yard, and can escape sometimes from your keeper into the fields and woods; while I am shut up in this close sty, which is scarcely large enough to turn myself about in: but this is not all; as soon as my master thinks I am fat enough, the butcher will come and cut my throat. I thought myself badly off when I ran about the yard with you; but I would now endure any want of food, could I but enjoy my life and liberty."

The chickens, and geese, and ducks, thought their fate quite as hard; the hens lamented the daily loss of their eggs. In short, all these creatures found some cause of complaint, and each thought their lot worse than their neighbours; but they all agreed in envying the happy life of Toby, the learned pig. "If we were but as well off as Toby, and the monkey, and parrot, and dancing dogs," said they, "we should be quite happy."

"Foolish creatures! you know not the miseries of the life you envy," said Toby, the learned pig, (who had escaped from the show, and now stood before them in all his fine gay trappings; "I have my share of sorrows as well as you, and perhaps even more. You enjoy

your liberty, have neither labour nor fatigue, are seldom struck or ill-used, can lie down and sleep, and rise again when it pleases you; but I am under the control of a hard task-master, and can only act as he thinks proper. I was taken from the sow, my mother, before I was a month old, and sold to my present master, who forced me to learn many hard things; and when I was wilful, or stupid, he beat me with a whip, and kept me without food until I became tame, and learned my tasks.

"I am shut up in a close house, where there is little light, and less air, and, though ever so tired, am called out to show the tricks he has taught me; and if I refuse to obey his commands, am scolded and beaten without mercy. Every living creature has its troubles, as you may learn from having heard each other's complaints, and there are few worthy of envy. For my part," added he, "I have made my escape from my prison, and shall be quite happy and content if I can pass the rest of my life in freedom, and have as small cause to repine as you have." As he said this, he began to tear from his head and neck the gay ribbons which had been the envy of all the other pigs; but at that moment the showman, who had been searching every place for him, came up to the spot where Toby stood.

"Oh ho! my fine fellow!" said he, "I will teach you to run away again, and

make yourself in this dirty trim." As he spoke, he laid a whip he had in his hand smartly across poor Toby's shoulders.

"You now see the folly of your discontent; have not you much greater reason to be happy than I?" said the learned pig, as with an humble air he returned to his former prison with his master.

The pigs and fowls, and dog and cat, now saw that Toby was worse off than themselves; and they resolved, for the time to come, not to envy the lot of others, nor yet be discontented and repine at their own.

THE APE AND THE ASS.

THERE was once an idle ape, named Ranger, who lived in a spreading tree in a green and pleasant meadow.

One day Ranger said to himself—
"What a silly fellow I am to remain in
this dull tree, where there is nothing to
amuse me! I will go and see a little of
the world."

Having first eaten a hearty breakfast of the fruit that grew on the tree, and drunk a little water from the stream which flowed near, he skipped lightly over the green turf, and went forth on his travels.

He had not gone far before he saw a man mounted on a fine horse, which pranced and cantered along in high style. "Ah!" sighed Ranger, "how much happier men are than we poor apes! I should like to have a horse to ride on, instead of being forced to walk on foot; and I have no doubt my figure would look very well on horseback. Before I go any further on my travels, I will have a steed to carry me." Saying this, he returned to the meadow, where some horses were quietly grazing, and besought one of them to permit him to mount on his back: but the horse looked very coolly on the ape, and said, with an air of great contempt, "Begone, you ugly beast! what horse of any spirit, think you, will suffer himself to be ruled by an ape? If you wish for a steed, I would advise you to ride on a stick, as that will best suit your size and figure."

The ape was very much hurt at this rude speech, and he chattered and made a sad noise; but the horse went on feeding, and paid no farther regard to him, and Ranger left him quite in a rage. He had not gone far, when he chanced to see a donkey feeding on the grass under a tree.

"Ah, ah!" said the ape, "I shall have a ride in spite of that rude horse, if I manage my matters well."

He soon climbed the tree; and perching himself on a convenient branch, he said in a voice loud enough for the ass

to overhear him—"How much handsomer this ass is than that horse! what a fine shape! what a soft coat! and then what nice long ears!—if this donkey's paces are but equal to her form, she must be a rare beast!"

The foolish ass was so charmed with the praises which the ape bestowed on her, that she pricked up her ears, and began capering about to convince the ape how well he had judged of her merits.

"Sweet Mistress Dustifoot," said the cunning ape with a coaxing air, "I was right when I said you were handsomer and swifter than a horse. Come a little nearer, for I should like to stroke your nice soft long ears."

The donkey, who did not suspect the trick, and thought all the ape's praises were sincere, came close under the tree; but before she was aware of his design Ranger sprang upon her.

The ass at first thought the ape had a mind for a little frolic, so she trotted about the field for some time in a very good humour; but at last she grew tired, and very civilly hinted that she wished to repose herself on the grass, and requested the ape to dismount, as she began to feel much fatigued.

"Thank you, Mistress Dustifoot," said Ranger; "if you are tired, I am not: and if you do not choose to go, I shall be obliged to make use of this long stick;" and he gave the poor ass several hearty blows as he spoke, with the stick he had broken from the tree.

The poor ass had now reason to lament her folly in having given ear to the flattery of the cunning ape, who urged her to her utmost speed, in spite of all she could say, with the stick he held in his hand; while the ape, rejoicing in the success of his scheme, began to applaud his own wisdom."

"It is a fine thing," said he, "to be wiser than one's neighbours. Now I am provided with a good steed, I will go forth on my travels, and if I increase in knowledge as I have begun, I shall become the wonder and envy both of man and beast; and when I return to the woods again, I will be a king."

Alas! the ape's vain hopes and grand projects were soon at an end; for the donkey, losing all patience at his ingratitude and vain boasting, approached the banks of a stream, and, putting her head between her fore-legs, began kicking in so furious a manner, that Ranger, not aware of her design, was thrown into the very middle of the stream.

The ass, glad of having rid herself of her burthen, capered away, leaving the ape struggling in the water. With much difficulty Ranger gained the shore, weary, bruised, and ashamed of his folly: he shook his wet coat; and, hanging his ears with a doleful air, returned to his former dwelling, resolving for the future to stay at home and learn wisdom.

THE PROUD FROG.

A YOUNG frog lived with her father and mother in a brook where there were many frogs besides themselves. The young frog was very proud and vain, and would often hop about the meadow, and bid the other frogs admire her fine shape and graceful motions; but, as she was not a bit better-looking than her neighbours, no one cared even to look at her.

"Mother," said she, quite in a pet one day, "it is a shame that such a fine creature as I am should live in such a dull out-of-the-way place as this is; I am sure, if I was to go more into company, I should be taken a great deal of notice of, and I dare say make my fortune in one way or other."—" Indeed, my dear daughter," said her prudent mother, "you had better be content to live with me in this nice clear brook, where there are plenty of flies and water-beetles, and slugs and snails among the green grass and rushes: what can you desire more?"

"To go and seek my fortune," replied the young frog, with a very pert air. "The world is a great place, my child," said the old frog with a sigh; "and you are young and silly: I fear, if you are left to your own guidance, you will come to a bad end."

" I am sure I am both old enough and

wise enough to take care of myself, and I shall do well, never fear," said the young frog; and she teased and plagued her mother till she let her go.

"Good b'ye, father and mother," said she, as she leaped out of the brook upon the bank and hopped away.

"That foolish young creature is so selfwilled and proud, she will surely be punished for her folly sooner or later," said the old frog her father, as he watched the progress of his silly daughter while she leaped and jumped over the heads of the plantains and daisies in the meadow. The old frogs who lived in the same stream popped their heads out of the water to look after this wilful young frog, and shook their heads, and

pitied the old ones for having such a sad vain daughter.

In the mean time the young frog went on her way: she crossed the meadow without any accident; but night coming on, and she being tired with her long journey, stopped to rest by a great stone which lay in her path; there was a nice round hole under the stone, and in she crept and soon fell fast asleep. She had not enjoyed her repose long, when she was roused by the entrance of an old toad and her four young ones, who very civilly told her the house was too small to admit another guest, for they had no more room than they wanted for themselves. The frog was very angry, and said she would not leave the lodging she had found; and she croaked so loud that the old toad and her young ones got behind her and pushed her out of the hole, saying as they did so, "Get out of our hole, get out, get out!"

Now this was very rude behaviour, you must own; but toads do not know much of good breeding, and they had no one to teach them better manners. I dare say, if the frog had not so rudely refused to leave the hole, and had asked the toad to let her pass the night in a corner, they would not have turned her out as they did.

This was the first misfortune the frog met with; she was ready to burst with anger; and passed the night in a

very disagreeable humour, under a clod of earth.

Next morning, while she was feasting on some dainty young snails, she was alarmed by two boys, who had entered the field, crying out, "A frog! a frog!" and though she hopped and skipped as high as she could to get out of their way, one of these cruel boys put his toe against her, and kicked her across a ditch into another field, where she lay half-dead with fright, and much hurt by her fall.

Some frogs that were swimming in a pool close by came to her relief: they brought her the best food they could find, and nursed her so well, that in a few days' time she could swim and leap with the best of them: but instead of being grateful for the kindness shown to her in her distress by the good frogs, she began to give herself airs, and even wanted to rule over them and be queen of the meadow.

This conduct gave great offence to the whole race of frogs. "You be queen over us!" they said; "if you do not mend your manners, we will turn you out of the meadow, you foolish little creature."

"Little!" croaked the young frog, swelling herself to twice her usual size; "little indeed! I am bigger than any of you,—I am almost as large as that ox yonder."

" Pooh, nonsense!" cried all the pond

of frogs in a breath; "as big as that ox! you have lost your senses: look at that great animal again!"

But the young frog, puffed up by conceit and pride, only swelled her body the more; "See," said she, "how large I am now!"

"Just large enough to make a good meal for me," said a great white duck who was dabbling in the mud close by, as she opened her beak and swallowed this vain young frog at a mouthful.

Now, had she been wise, and not tried to look bigger than Nature had made her, she might have lived very happy in the pond with the frogs who had been so friendly, and treated her with so much kindness.

THE GRATEFUL CRANE.

A POOR crane was once caught in a net, from which she could by no efforts escape. "Alas!" said she in a tone of deep distress, "what will become of me! if I cannot break a passage through this net, I shall either fall a prey to the fowler, or die of hunger. My death, too, will cause that of all my young ones, who must perish unless I return to feed and warm them."

A dog in the next field, hearing her complaints, jumped over the fence, and, bidding her be of good courage, tore the net in pieces with his teeth, and said,

THE GRATEFUL CRANE.





THE KING OF THE FEN.



"Return, my friend, to your young ones, who are, no doubt, anxiously looking out for you."

The grateful crane thanked the dog a thousand times. "In saving my life," said she, "you have also saved my helpless family. I shall never forget your kindness as long as I live."

"The strong should always be ready to help the weak: we ought to do as we would be done by; and I may one day or other be glad of some friend to assist me," replied the dog.

They then parted: the dog returned to watch his master's sheep; and the happy crane to her nest of anxious young ones.

It chanced some time after this that

the crane, on her return to her nest, stopped to drink a little water from a clear stream which flowed near the foot of a steep rock; but she had hardly tasted a drop when she was startled by a moaning sound near her, as if made by some animal in great pain.

Calling to mind the advice of the dog—to assist the distressed,—she left the water, and, looking round, she beheld, stretched on the ground at the foot of the rock, and almost at the point of death, the very dog that had formerly saved her life. She flew to him with all the haste she could; and asked, in what way she could serve him, and what was his ailment?

The dog with much difficulty told her that, in eating his dinner, a bone had got across his throat; and he should be choked, unless it was speedily removed.

"If that is all," said the crane, with a joyful air, "I can soon put an end to your distress, if you will but permit me to pull the bone out."

The dog gladly consented; and the crane, putting her long bill into the dog's throat, plucked up the bone that had given him so much uneasiness, and which, but for her timely help, must have caused his death.

Thus the dog was rewarded for having done a good action; and the crane was happy in having had it in her power to prove her gratitude, and make a return for the service which had been done to her when she was in distress and stood in need of assistance.

THE KING OF THE FEN.

"I will be king of the fen," said Croaker the frog, leaping out of the brook upon the dry land.

"You king, indeed!" said Slyboots, a fine fat field-mouse, with a long tail and bright eyes, jumping out of his hole at the foot of a hazel bush which grew near. I am larger than you, and I will be king, and the frogs shall be my subjects, and cut rushes, and bring me dry moss to line my nest." And Slyboots looked big, and strutted about and gave himself a great many airs.

" I will never consent to be governed by a mouse," replied the frog with a disdainful air: "finely king Slyboots would sound!"

"Quite as well as king Croaker!" retorted the mouse. Then the frog flew into a great passion, and hopped so high and croaked so loud that the mouse crept a little further from him; for frogs, like children, look very ugly when they are out of temper: and Slyboots did not much like the idea of being touched by his cold paws; and he said to himself, "In spite of this frog, looking so fierce and talking so loud, I should not wonder if he was a coward at heart." So he turned to the frog and said, "As we both wish to be king of the fen, I know of no way of ending the dispute but by single combat; and the one that wins the battle shall be king over the other."

Then the frog said, "I have no objection to what you propose, and we will each bring a friend to see fair play. To-morrow at twelve o'clock I shall be ready to take the field; and if you fail to meet me here, I shall be king of the fen, and the mice shall be my servants:"-for Croaker thought Slyboots was braver in word than deed, as cowards are often the foremost to talk of fighting.

Then the frog retired among the bulrushes, and the mouse ran home to his hole under the nut-tree.

These two rivals awoke next morning by break of day, to prepare for the combat, which was to take place at noon. The frog was very much afraid of Slyboots' sharp teeth and claws: so he fell to work and made himself a shield from the bark of an old willow tree; and then he plucked a long bulrush for a spear. "Now," said he, "I am well armed: I have a shield to defend myself, and a spear to attack the enemy with: if I had but a valiant friend to be my second in the fight, I should do very well."

"I will be your second," said a great pike, raising his head above the water: "and I will lie close to the bank, among these rushes; and if you lose or break your spear, come to me, and I will procure you another."

The frog was well pleased at this offer. "I shall beat Slyboots in a little time," said he, "with such weapons and so good a friend as the pike to stand by and help me."

Slyboots, in the mean time, was not idle; he sharpened his teeth and his claws, and chose a light twig from the hazel-bush, and said, "I only want now a friend to be my second and see fair play." A great kite, who was hovering near, said, "Mr. Slyboots, you may command my services at any hour you please to name; I will attend you with great pleasure to the place of meeting."

Now Slyboots was somewhat afraid of the kite, for he thought he had rather a hungry look about the eyes and beak; but he dared not refuse his offer, lest he should give offence; so he thanked him for his kindness, and at the appointed hour they went to the spot where the frog was waiting for their arrival. The pike lay in the hole among the rushes; and the kite sat on the bough of a tree close by.

The frog and the mouse looked at each other for a few minutes, and brandished their weapons; the mouse walked about with a very warlike air, and the frog flourished his bulrush over his head. At last the kite and the pike gave signal for the fray to commence;

and to fighting they both went, and the battle was long and fierce on both sides, and for some time it was doubtful which would be the conqueror. At last the frog seemed to gain ground; but at the very minute that he appeared to have the most advantage over the mouse, his spear broke in pieces. "Alas!" croaked he in a tone of dismay, "what shall I do? who will give me another weapon?"-" Here is one," cried his friend the pike from among the rushes.

The frog, the unsuspecting frog, gave a leap of joy, and sprang towards the pike, who, opening his mouth, quickly put an end to the battle by swallowing at one mouthful the hapless frog.

"I am king of the fen now!" cried Slyboots with a joyful squeak. "Long live your majesty!" exclaimed the crafty kite as he darted from the tree, and, pouncing upon the new sovereign, bore him away in his talons, and put a speedy end to his regal honours and his life at the same moment.



THE COVETOUS BOY AND THE GOOSE.





THE PEACOCK AND HIS FELLOW TRAVELLERS.

THE COVETOUS BOY AND THE GOOSE.

A GREAT many years ago there lived a boy whose godmother was a wise and powerful fairy. One day she called him to her, and placed in his arms a fine white goose.

"This goose," said she, "will lay you every day a golden egg; and if you treat her well, she will make your fortune."

The boy thanked the fairy, and carried home the goose; and he built her a little house, and made her a nice warm nest, and lined it with the softest hay.

This wonderful goose laid a golden egg every day, as the fairy had foretold; and the boy said, "If I go on thus, I shall soon become a rich man." But riches are of little value without wisdom, and this boy was very far from being wise; for, one day, as he was feeding his goose, he said to himself, "I should like to have all my wealth at once, and then I would have a great house and fine clothes, and a horse to ride on." Then this cruel boy killed the poor goose that had laid him so many golden eggs: but he was rightly served for his covetousness and ingratitude; for, instead of the treasure he had expected, how great was his surprise and regret to find that, in taking away the life of this valuable goose, he had destroyed the whole source of his wealth. While he was still lamenting his folly, the fairy, his godmother, appeared before him with a countenance full of anger: "Covetous and ungrateful wretch!" said she, "I designed to have made your fortune; but you have proved yourself so unworthy of my favour that from this moment I renounce you." Saying these words she departed, leaving this foolish boy overcome with shame and confusion.

Thus, by his covetous disposition, he lost the favour of the fairy, and became a poor man all the rest of his life,—a hewer of wood and a drawer of water.

THE PEACOCK AND HIS FELLOW TRAVELLERS.

The peacock said one day to the game-cock, who lived in the same farm-yard, "I wonder, friend Chanticleer, how you can like to live in this disagreeable place; for my part, I mean to leave it as soon as I can."

"I have no more wish to be shut up here than you," replied the cock.

"Suppose, then," said the peacock, "we go and seek our fortune in the great world together."

"I have not the least objection to bear you company," said Chanticleer: "but yonder I see our mistress feeding the chickens; I must go and pick a bit first, for I never care to travel on an empty stomach."

The peacock said it would take him some time to prepare himself, so they agreed to put off the journey till the following day. Chanticleer promised to crow at break of day, to rouse the peacock, that they might set off quite early in the morning; but though he crowed both loud and long, the peacock slept so soundly that he did not hear his call, till Chanticleer, losing all patience, stepped close to him, and crowed in his ear,

Friend Peacock, awake, for bright is the day; The sun has arisen, so let us away.

The peacock, quite ashamed of having slept so long, roused himself from his slumbers, and, opening his eyes, said:

"Truly, friend Chanty, I am so used to hearing you crow every night, that I quite forgot you were to rouse me so early."

Then the cock and the peacock bade adieu to the farm-yard, and set forth on their travels. They had not gone very far, when they overtook a crane that happened to be journeying the same way as themselves. The peacock and cock entered into discourse with the crane, who told them that he too was on his travels; and they presently agreed to join company, "for," said they, "we

shall amuse one another, and make the way seem shorter." They were very comfortable, and went chatting very pleasantly of one thing or other, till, the sun going down, and they being tired with walking in the dusty roads, Chanticleer proposed going to a rick-yard which was near, to rest and refresh themselves.

To this plan they all agreed; and the crane, putting his long bill into a stack of corn, pulled out enough for a plentiful repast.

After they had supped, the peacock perched himself on the projecting beam of a pig-sty: the cock sat on a waggonwheel close by, and the crane put his head under his wing and went fast asleep; and they slept soundly all night, and had very pleasant dreams.

Chanticleer, who was an early riser, called up his fellow travellers as soon as it was day; and when they had breakfasted, they again renewed their journey; but this day was not spent near so agreeably as the preceding one, owing to the airs and ill-humour of the peacock, who was a proud vain bird. It chanced that, in crossing the dirty yard, he soiled the gay feathers of his train, which accident made him very cross; and he commanded the cock and crane, in no very gentle manner, to hold up his train, and keep it out of the dirt.

The crane excused himself, saying he had enough to do in taking care of his own feathers; the cock, likewise, declined the honour of being trainbearer to the peacock: then the peacock was quite angry, and, thinking to vex his companions, said, — "I am glad I am a fine peacock, and not a shabby crane, nor yet a plain gamecock."

Hearing this, the cock bristled up his feathers, and, looking very angry, said, "A plain cock indeed! Let me tell you, I think myself quite as handsome as you, and I would rather be a plain cock, as you think fit to call me, than a useless peacock." And the crane said very mildly, "Friend Peacock, your feathers are very gay, and you are a very fine bird to look at; but I would

not change my state for yours, for I am swifter afoot, and readier on the wing. Let us see, in time of danger, which will prove of the most service—your fine train and crest, or my long legs and dull plumes.

SECOND PART.

THE peacock, the cock, and the crane, now came to a great forest of lofty trees, which they all three entered. They were still disputing on their separate merits, when they were terrified by a dreadful roaring near them, and a monstrous lion rushed out from among the bushes where he had lain concealed.

The crane, running swiftly a few paces, extended his wings, and, soaring through the air, flew full three miles out of sight.

The cock flew to the branch of an oak, whose boughs overhung the path; while the peacock, entangled by his heavy train among the brambles, could by no means escape from the paw of the lion; and he found with sorrow that the fine plumes he had boasted of so much, instead of being of use to him, were, at last, the cause of his being devoured by a savage beast of prey; while the plain cock and the shabby crane were enabled to make a safe retreat, and to return unhurt to their several homes.

THE YOUNG STAG.

A young stag once lived in a dell by the side of a fountain, under the covert of some forest-trees; he passed his days in ease and plenty, reposing on the green turf, cropping the flowers that grew on the borders of the fountain, or viewing his own shadow reflected on its surface: but Fleetfoot (for thus was the young stag called) at length became weary of the quiet life he led, and longed for a change of scene.

One fine spring morning he roused himself from the dewy grass, and, looking round him, said, "How bright the sun shines! the air is soft and balmy; I

THE YOUNG STAG.





THE SHETLAND PONY.



will leave these silent woods, and visit the plains and yonder verdant meadows." Saying this, he left his secure and pleasant retreat in the dell, and walked forth into the open fields. There he saw the shepherds folding their flocks on the hills, and the mowers cutting down the green grass in the meadows: he stopped to listen to the song of the milkmaid and the chime of the bells from the steeple of the distant village church. These sounds and sights were all new to the young stag, who had passed his life in the deep recesses of the forest; and, as he bounded with light and joyous steps over the level plains, he said, "I will return no more to the gloomy forest, but dwell here in these pleasant plains and fruitful fields.

But if his former abode was less pleasing, it was much more secure; and thoughtless Fleetfoot had soon reason to regret having been tempted to quit his quiet home in the shady dell; for, one day, as he was carelessly reposing by the bank of a river, the sound of a hunter's bugle rang upon his ear: -scarcely had he time to raise himself on his feet, when a pack of hounds, and a huntsman mounted on a fleet horse, came in view.

The frightened stag fled swiftly over hill and dale, followed by the noisy pack in full cry close behind him. Twice that day did the stag plunge into the stream and swim boldly over, thinking to baffle the pursuit; but in vain: the hounds, encouraged by the shouts of the huntsman, likewise crossed the river; and now they gained nearer and nearer on his fainting steps, and the hunter thought the prize secure; but Fleetfoot, collecting all his remaining strength, redoubled his former speed, and, leaving the disappointed hounds and hunter far behind, he reached the friendly shade of the forest, and, panting and breathless, gladly laid himself down once more by the side of the fountain. From that time he never left his native dell, but, contented with his lot, passed the remainder of his days in peace and happiness.

THE SHETLAND PONY.

"What stupid animals those tame horses are to bear such heavy burdens, and work so many hours!" said a wild Shetland pony, as he watched the labours of the horses of a Shetland farmer who were employed in carrying loads of turf. Browny (for so was the wild pony called) lifted his rough head over the fence, and amused himself by observing what passed among his more industrious brethren. He examined with much attention the various parts of the harness that the horses wore - the bridle, the halter, and, above all, he was most pleased with their bright iron shoes.

He could not refrain from asking a number of questions; to which the horses replied with much good temper. "What are those pretty bright things that you wear on your feet?" asked Browny. "They are our shoes," said one of the horses. "And how came you by them?" demanded the pony. "They were put on by our master, to prevent our feet from being wounded by the rough stones and hard ground we are forced sometimes to travel over," replied the horse. "Then," said the simple pony, forgetting how much he had despised the labouring horses only a few minutes before, "I should like to wear such pretty shoes. Will you give me one of yours?"-" They are nailed on

our feet, and we can by no means remove them," said the horse. "And pray, what is the use of that bright chain that you hold between your teeth, and that piece of leather which comes over your head and neck?" The horse told the pony, that the bright chain was a curb, and the leather a bridle, by which they were restrained from going any way but that which their master chose. "We are forced," said they, "to work many hours in the day, and in all weathers; and if we are unruly, or do not perform our duty according to our master's wishes, he never fails to chastise us with a long whip: but then, in return for our services, we are lodged in a warm sheltered stable or shed all the cold weather, and are fed with sweet hay, or corn, or grass; and when the frost is sharp, and the ground covered with snow, we have little to do, and live at our ease."

"For all this," replied Browny, "I would rather enjoy my liberty, and be able to range over hill and plain, and have scanty fare, than be well fed, and subject to the will and caprice of a master, as you are. I am free, and will never submit to be curbed by any one;" and, shaking his mane, he bounded over the heath, and joined the wild ponies his companions, exulting in his liberty.

The winter set in that year with uncommon severity: the snow fell for many weeks without ceasing; the moun-

tain streams were fast bound up by the frost; the shrill north wind blew keenly over the desolate plains, which afforded not a single blade of grass, nor a bit of moss or heath, for the support of the wild ponies and cattle; who, forced by want, came into the enclosures, and round the dwellings of the Shetlanders, for shelter from the inclement season. Even the proud spirit of Browny was tamed, and, urged by hunger, he entered the yard of a Shetland farmer to seek for food.

His fleet step, fine form, and fiery eye, did not pass unnoticed by the Shetlander, who resolved, if possible, to make himself master of so spirited an animal; but Browny, as if aware of his design, bounded away whenever he drew near the spot where he stood. But the cold increased in severity, and Browny felt the want of food every day more painfully.

One day the Shetlander, who had for some time marked his hungry and dejected looks, approached the spot where he was with a basket of corn in his hand, which he placed on the ground before him, and withdrew to a little distance, that he might eat it undisturbed. For several successive days the Shetlander repeated his visit; and Browny, grown more familiar, and grateful for the supply of food, at length suffered the farmer to approach him and pat his rough side and shaggy mane; and the sound of his steps on the frozen ground was heard and gladly welcomed by the Shetland pony, who ran neighing to meet his friend, eager to receive his daily supply of food from his hands.

But one day, while Browny was eating his provender, the farmer, watching a favourable moment, threw over his head a noosed rope, and in spite of his anger and the resistance he made, led him away captive to the stable, where he remained for a long time sullen and unhappy, regretting the loss of that liberty which, in spite of cold and famine, he still held so dear.

Browny by degrees grew more gentle, and soon became sensible of the kind treatment he received from his new master, who trimmed his hoofs and mane, and combed and brushed his rough coat till it looked quite fine and shone like satin. He came daily to feed him, and brought his little children to admire the young stranger, who patted his sides with their little hands, and praised the beauty of his form and his bright eyes.

When the spring returned, and the warm sunbeams had melted the snow from the ground, Browny was led from the stable, bridled and saddled, his feet shod with the bright shoes he had admired so much. Without making any resistance, he suffered himself to be mounted, and galloped lightly over the level turf; while his master, delighted by

his gentleness, caressed him, and praised his fleetness and graceful motion.

From this time Browny became a general favourite; he was the darling and pet of all the farmer's children, who never beat or kicked him, but plucked for him the sweetest grass, and brought him the clearest water from the spring to drink; and the grateful pony, no longer wild and unruly, would suffer them to mount his back and carry them safely round the fields and common. In short, Browny was so happy, and treated with such kindness, that he never had reason to regret the day when he was deprived of his freedom and became subjected to the will of the good Shetlander, his master.



THE ROOK AND THE PITCHER.





MADGE THE OWL.

THE ROOK AND THE PITCHER.

Two old rooks built their nest on the top of a great tree, and hatched three young ones, whose names were Jet, and Jack, and Broadbill. Now Jet was very good; but Jack and Broadbill were very bad birds, and minded not a word that was said to them: they were always quarrelling with each other, and were very rude and saucy to their sister Jet.

One day the old rooks said to the young ones—"My dear children, we are going out on a visit to your uncle and aunt, who have built a nest in yonder wood. Take care you do not quarrel

with each other; and, pray, do not attempt to fly in our absence."

Jet said she would not leave the nest; but Jack and Broadbill only cawed and flapped their wings; for they were sad wicked birds and did not mean to be good.

The old rooks were scarcely out of sight, when Jack began to quarrel with Broadbill about some nonsense or other; and they cawed and cawed, and flapped their wings in each other's eyes, and scratched with their sharp claws, till Jet was quite vexed at their bad behaviour, and begged them not to fight; but, instead of minding what their good sister said to them, they pecked her head, and pulled out some of her nice black feathers.

At last Broadbill, who was the strong-

est, pushed Jack over the edge of the nest; and Jack, who had never learned to fly, fell from the top of the tree to the bottom, and broke his neck in the fall.

Oh! what a fright Broadbill was in when he saw what he had done! he did not mean to kill Jack; but when people give way to anger, they never know where it will end, and so Jet told him.

Jet was grieved and cried sadly for the death of poor Jack; though, if he had been good like her, he would not have come to such a bad end.

Now Broadbill was very quiet for some time after this disaster had taken place; and Jet began to think he had seen the error of his conduct, and was going to behave quite well for the future.

Broadbill chanced to see some young crows a little bigger than himself on the next tree learning to fly; and they flew from bough to bough, and then back again to the nest, and seemed to enjoy themselves so well, that Broadbill thought he should like to fly like his neighbours; and he said, "Come, Jet, do not let us stay moping here; see how merry our cousins the crows are! I am sure we could fly as well as they, if we tried."

"Brother Broadbill," said Jet, "our father and mother told us not to quit the nest in their absence; and I do not think our wings are strong enough to bear us, and we have not as yet learned how to use them."

"I mean to try my wings to-day, for all that," said this wilful bird; "I long to show those crows what I can do."

"But the crows are older than we, and their wings are fuller of feathers," said Jet.

"But mine are broader and wider, and I am sure I can fly better," said Broadbill, as he hopped out of the nest upon a bough, and stood and flapped his wings before he took flight.

"Broadbill, you will surely break your neck," said Jet, and she begged him not to fly down: but Broadbill only laughed at her fears, and away he flew; but the wind blew strong, the tree was high, and Broadbill's wings were weak; he strove to keep them spread, but his feathers were not half-grown, and he had not learned to fly; so down he came upon the hard ground, and was killed on the spot.

Poor Jet was now left quite alone; and she hid her head under her wing, and cried and mourned for the death of her two brothers. The old rooks came home when it grew dark; and they were very much shocked when they heard what had happened, though they were not quite so sorry as they would have been, had Jack and Broadbill been good and dutiful birds, like their sister Jet.

Some time after this, Jet's mother fell sick, and grew so weak that she was unable to fly abroad and get food as usual.

One day, when the old rook her husband was gone out to look for food, she

called Jet to her, and said, "Jet, bring me a little water in your bill, for I am ready to die with thirst." Away flew Jet to seek for some drink for her sick mother; but the summer had been very hot, and all the ponds and ditches near were quite dried up. Jet flew far and wide to seek for some water, but found none.

Quite tired at last, she rested on some rails on the top of a steep bank; when, looking down, she beheld a pitcher which a shepherd had left by chance on the plain where he had been keeping his flocks.

Full of joy, Jet flew towards it. There was a little water, indeed, in the pitcher, but so near the bottom that she could not reach a single drop; then she tried

to overturn the vessel, but she had not strength to move it. She looked round with a sorrowful air, thinking what she should do, when her eye by chance rested on a heap of stones that lay near. A sudden thought came into her head: she fetched the stones one by one in her bill, and cast them into the pitcher; thus by degrees she raised the water up to the brim, and was by this means able to carry home some water to her sick mother, who was so much revived by it that she soon grew well and strong.

When the rooks, and crows, and ravens heard what a good daughter Jet had been, and how clever she was, they built her a fine large nest, and made her queen over the whole rookery.

MADGE, THE OWL.

A PERT young owl, who lived with her mother in the cleft of a rock, said one day, "Pray, mother, what is the reason that you stay in this dark hole all day, and only go out when the sun is down and all the birds and beasts are gone to rest?"

"Because, child," said the old owl, "our eyes are not strong enough to bear the light of the sun like those of other birds."

"I am sure my eyes are as large as the hawk's and kite's, and a great deal bigger than the jay's and jackdaw's, and they are on the wing all day long when the sun shines brightest. I mean to go out and enjoy myself, as they do."

"You are a foolish bird," replied the old owl gravely: "and will repent of your folly, if you expose yourself in the daylight."

"My mother only says this to make me stay at home and amuse her, because her sight has grown somewhat dim with age," said this undutiful daughter to herself, as she sat sulkily dressing her feathers in a corner of the nest.

That night she went abroad with her mother to hunt the fields and barns for mice and birds. They found but little prey; and Madge was very cross, for she saw no one all night but an old black raven who sat croaking on the top of a chimney.

"How much better I can sing than that hoarse old gentleman yonder!" said Madge to her mother: "if I were to go about like other birds, and be heard and seen a little, no one would listen to the robin or blackbird, my voice is so much finer than any of theirs."

"Indeed, Madge," said her mother, "our voices sound far better by night than by day; and if you were only to attempt to sing in the daytime, all the little birds, who now hold you in such reverence, would flock round you, and mock and torment you."

But Madge, who fancied she was a

very fine singer, did not believe one word of what her wise mother said.

The sun rose bright and clear next morning; and the old owl hid her head in the long downy feathers of her breast, and shielded her eyes from the light which streamed into the hole through the chinks of the rock. Madge watched her mother till she thought she was fast asleep, and then she hopped to the entrance of the nest and peeped out. Her eyes were so dazzled by the glaring light of the sun that she could scarcely keep them open; but she saw the birds flying past, and heard them singing gaily among the green boughs, as they tended their nestlings or built their nests.

Then said Madge, "If I fly to the shade of those trees, I shall not be hurt by the light, and then I will teach those birds what good singing is." So away she flew; but she was ready to faint with the heat of the sun, and so blinded by his light, that she could scarcely see which way to direct her flight. At last she reached a bough, and sat down to rest on it; and when she was a little recovered, she began to try her voice: but owls only scream, and make a bad hand of singing.

It so chanced that a jackdaw and a magpie, who were chatting on the stump of an old willow close by, heard the noise she made.

"Jack," said the magpie, "yonder is

an owl: hark! do you hear how she screams?"

"Ay, ay," said the Jackdaw: "we will teach her ladyship to venture out in the face of day, scaring honest folks with her hideous noise." Saying this, they both boldly flew close to Madge, and said, "Pray, Mrs. Owl, have some pity for your neighbours' ears, and cease that frightful clamour!"

Madge, who was so vain of her voice, drew herself up, and looking very fierce, said, "You are very bold birds, methinks, to venture so near me and make such rude remarks: do not you know I can punish you well for such conduct?"

"Indeed, Mrs. Madge," said the jackdaw, stepping close to her side, "we are somewhat afraid of you of an evening, but not at all in the daylight; and, let me tell you, you have no business out in the face of the sun."

Then they began to chatter and mock her: the owl hissed and screamed with rage; but the sun shone so bright, and Madge, never having been used to any light but the grey of the evening or moonlight, was half blinded, and so faint with the heat, that she was ready to die, and could not defend herself, nor yet punish the saucy jackdaw and magpie for their insolence.

The jackdaw and the magpie, when they found the owl had no power to hurt them, called together a flock of sparrows, and starlings, and tomtits, and chaffinches, and they all flew round Madge, and flapped their wings in her face, and pulled out her feathers, and drove her from place to place, till, tired and harassed by their uncivil treatment, and vexed to the heart, she was glad to seek shelter in the rock, and hide her head in the dark hole she had despised so much only the day before.



THE FAITHFUL DOG. '

"Where are you going in such haste, friend?" said Trusty the shepherd's dog, to a great wolf that was jogging along the same road. "If I was sure you would not betray my secret," said the wolf, with a sly leer, "I would let you know."

"You need not fear me; I shall tell no one a word of the matter," said Trusty. "Well then," said the wolf, you must know, as I was prowling round yonder cottage, I saw the peasant's wife put a fine baby into the cradle, and heard her say, 'Lie still, my darling, and go to sleep, while I run down to the village to buy bread for your father's supper.' As soon as the babe is asleep, I shall go and fetch it: it is fair and fat, and will make a nice supper for me and my cubs."

"Then," said Trusty, "I would advise you to wait a little longer, for I saw the baby's mother step into the next house to speak to a neighbour:—take care lest you are seen."

The wolf thanked the dog for his

good advice, for he did not know that the baby belonged to Trusty's master; and he said he would take heed and keep close.

Then Trusty ran home with all the speed he could. The door was ajar, and the innocent baby was fast asleep in the cradle: so he lay down on the mat behind the door, and listened for the coming of the wolf. It was not long before he heard the tread of the wolf's feet on the gravel path, and in another minute the savage beast was in the room and stealing with cautious steps towards the cradle; but just as he was preparing to seize the poor baby, Trusty sprang upon him, and after a severe struggle, laid him dead on the floor.

The first object the mother saw on her return was the wolf bathed in blood at the foot of the cradle, while the infant, unhurt, lay soundly sleeping on its little pillow, and faithful Trusty watching its peaceful slumbers.

The grateful mother fondly caressed the preserver of her infant; and, calling together all her neighbours, made them bear witness to Trusty's courage and fidelity. From that time he became a favourite with the whole family; he had his share in all the meals, and a warm nook in the chimney corner, and passed a long and happy life.

THE END.

New,

000

000

000

000

000

000

01010

0(0)0

000

900

0(0)0

0/010

000

0/0/0

000

000

0/0/0

000

000

0(0)0

000

dolo

0000

000

000

000

000

000

000

000

200

0(0)0

000

0(0)0

0(0)0

000

dolo

000

000

000

Instructive, and Amusing Works,

PUBLISHED BY

GRANT AND GRIFFITH,

SUCCESSORS TO JOHN HARRIS.

CORNER OF ST. PAUL'S CHURCH-YARD, LONDON.

MISS M. FRASER TYTLER.

THE WONDER SEEKER:

or, The History of Charles Douglas, by the Author of "Tales of the Great and Brave," With Illustrations by John Absolon, Esq. Fcap 8vo. Price 5s. cloth.

Bust Bublished.

Dedicated, by Special Permission of Her Majesty, to the Princess Royal,

FLOWERS OF THE MATIN AND EVEN SONG.

By MARY ROBERTS, Author of "RUINS AND OLD TREES," "PROGRESS OF CREATION," &c. With Coloured Illustrations. Fcap 8vo. Price 5s. cloth, gilt edges.

"Let all who love flowers and healthy sentiment straightway procure this charming volume."—Church and State Gazette.

"Botanical characteristics, rural descriptions, English home feelings, poetry, anecdote, and story, are all agreeably intermingled. The subjects are those simple wild flowers that open in the morning and close towards the evening."—Spectator.

૽ૢ૽૾ૢ૽૽ૢ૽૽ૢ૾૽ૢ૽૽ૢ૽૽ૢ૽૽ૢ૽૽ૢ૽૽ૢ૽૽ૢ૽૽ૢૺ૽ૢ૽૽ૢ૽૽ૢ૽૽ૢ૽૽

Rem dalorks.

THE YOUNG LADIES' READER. BY MRS. ELLIS,

AUTHOR OF "THE WOMEN OF ENGLAND," Foolscap 8vo. 4s. 6d. cloth, 5s. roan.

CONTENTS.

Narrative and Description. Imaginary Scenes and Conver-

sation. Illustrations of Character. Miscellaneous Pieces.

Illustrations of Principle. Poetry.

"The remarks are sound and useful, the extracts modern and made with taste and care."-Athenœum.

"We can confidently recommend this volume to the school and family circle "-Critic.

"One of the very best books of its class. Mrs. Ellis has contributed a considerable amount of original matter, and the extracts manifest the characteristic taste and purity of feeling of the Author of 'The Women of England,' " -Watchman.

POINTS AND PICKINGS

INFORMATION ABOUT CHINA AND THE CHINESE.

BY THE AUTHOR OF "PAUL PRESTON," "SOLDIERS AND SAILORS," ETC.

With Twenty Engravings. Foolscap 8vo. Price 6s. cloth, 9s. 6d. morocco.

"A work at once amusing and important, full of graphic descriptions of the peculiarities of the country, as well as striking sketches of the people. The Illustrations are characteristic and judiciously selected, being spiritedly drawn and well engraven."—Pictorial Times.

"This very handsome volume contains an almost incredible amount of information."-Church and State Gazette.

"One of the most instructive and amusing volumes we have had the pleasure to notice."-Methodist Magazine.

Deb Warks.

The Star of the Court;

MAID OF HONOUR AND QUEEN OF ENGLAND, Anne Bolepn.

BY MISS BUNBURY,

AUTHOR OF "ANECDOTES OF PETER THE GREAT," ETC.
With a Portrait after Holbein and an Illuminated Title.
Foolscap 8vo. Price 3s. 6d. cloth, 4s. gilt edges.

"This is altogether a beautiful work; beautifully written, and beautifully printed."—Birmingham Advertiser.

"A charming little volume, combining all the fascinations of romance with the sober lessons of History."—New Belle Assemblee.

EMILY'S REWARD; OR. THE HOLIDAY TRIP TO PARIS.

BY MRS. HOFLAND.

AUTHOR OF "THE SON OF A GENIUS," "ELLEN THE TEACHER," ETC.
With Frontispiece by Williams. 18mo. Price 2s. 6d. cloth.

"The present work possesses a peculiar interest from the fact that it is stated by the Author in her preface, 'both age and infirmity mark it as her last.'"—Altus.

GLIMPSES OF NATURE,

AND OBJECTS OF INTEREST DESCRIBED,

During a Visit to the Isle of Wight. Designed to assist and encourage Young Persons in forming habits of observation.

BY MRS. LOUDON.

AUTHOR OF " BOTANY FOR LADIES," ETC.

With 37 Illustrations. Square 16mo. Price 3s. 6d. cloth.

"We could not recommend a more valuable little volume. It is full of information conveyed in the most agreeable manner."—Literary Gazette.
"A more fitting present, or one more adapted to stimulate the faculties of

'little people 'could not be published."—Bath and Cheltenham Gazette.

few Works.

ANECDOTES OF PETER THE GREAT,

EMPEROR OF RUSSIA.

EXHIBITING THE BESULT OF PERSEVERANCE AND LABORIOUS EXERTION IN OVERCOMING DIFFICULTIES.

BY THE AUTHOR OF "A VISIT TO MY BIRTHPLACE," ETC. 18mo. With a Frontispiece. Price 2s. 6d. cloth.

"The Writer has well caught the bright points of Peter's extraordinary career, and the work will tend to excite in youth a love for historical reading."—Bath and Chellenham Gazette.

RHODA; OR, THE EXCELLENCE OF CHARITY.

"THE COTTAGE ON THE COMMON," ETC.

With three Illustrations, drawn and engraved by WILLIAMS. Square 16mo. Price 2s. cloth.

"Not only adapted for children, but many parents might derive great advantage from studying its simple truths."—Church and State Gazette. "An excellent little book for children, written in plain and unaffected, but

"An excellent little book for children, written in plain and unaffected, but elegant language. The design of the Author is worked out by means of an interesting story."—Morning Chronicle.

SHORT AND SIMPLE PRAYERS,

FOR THE USE OF YOUNG CHILDREN,

WITH HYMNS.

By the author of "mamma's bible stories." Square 16mo. Price 1s. 6d. cloth.

"We have been exceedingly delighted with this book. We have really never seen the thing accomplished so well before."—The Witness.

"Well adapted to the capacities of children,—beginning with the simplest forms which the youngest child may lisp at its mother's knee, and proceeding with those suited to its gradually advancing age. Special prayers, designed for particular circumstances and occasions, are added. We cordially recommend the book."—Christian Guardian.

A SEQUEL TO MAMMA'S BIBLE STORIES.

Twelve Engravings. Price 3s. 6d. in cloth.

Enstructibe Bublications.

SOLDIERS AND SAILORS;

OR, ANECDOTES, DETAILS, AND RECOLLECTIONS OF NAVAL AND MILITARY LIFE,

AS RELATED TO HIS NEPHEWS, BY AN OLD OFFICER.

Price 6s., foolscap cloth, or 9s. 6d. bound in morocco.

With more than fifty beautiful Woodcuts, from Designs by John Gilbert.

The Old Officer thus writes:—" My object is not to turn the heads of my Young Readers with false notions of honour and glory, but simply to give what information I can about Soldiers and Sailors."—Page 10.

"Cheerfully do we award the meed of praise to this volume. It is the best book of its class we have yet read, containing a rich fund of interesting amusement for the young, and is not without its attractions for those of a more mature age,"—United Service Gazette.

HOME AMUSEMENTS:

A COLLECTION OF RIDDLES, CHARADES,

CONUNDRUMS, PARLOUR GAMES, AND FORFEITS.

With a Frontispiece, printed in gold and colours.

Price 2s. 6d. cloth.

- SCENES IN FOREIGN LANDS; from the Portfolio and Journal of a Traveller in various Parts of EUROPE, ASIA, AFRICA, and AMERICA; upon a Plan arranged by the late Rev. ISAACTAVLOR, Author of "Scenes of Commerce," &c. With 192 engravings. Price 9s. half-bound, moroeco 12mo.
- SCENES OF COMMERCE BY LAND AND SEA; or, "Where does it come from?" answered upon a Plan arranged by the late Rev. ISAAC TAYLOR. A New Edition; including "Scenes of British Wealth," with 66 engravings on Steel, and a View of the Royal Exchange. Price 7s. 6d. half-bound, morocco 12mo.

- TRUE STORIES FROM ANCIENT HISTORY, chronologically arranged from the Creation of the World to the Death of Chale-magne. By the Author of "Always Happy," &c. Ninth Edition, illustrated with 24 engravings. Price 7s. 6d. half-bd., mor. 12mo.
- TRUE STORIES FROM MODERN HISTORY, chronologically arranged, from the Death of Charlemagne to the Battle of Waterloo. Sixth Edition, illustrated with 24 engravings. Price 7s. 6d. half-bound, morocco 12mo.
- TRUE STORIES FROM ENGLISH HISTORY, chronologically arranged from the Invasion of the Romans to the Present Time. By the Author of "True Stories from Ancient and Modern History," &c. Fifth Edition. With 36 engravings. Price 7s. 6d. half-bound, moroeco 12mo.
- STORIES FROM THE OLD AND NEW TESTAMENTS, on an improved Plan. By the Rev. BOURNE HALL DRAPER. With 48 engravings. Fifth Edition. Price 6s. half-morocco 12mo.
- WARS OF THE JEWS, as related by JOSEPHUS; adapted to the Capacities of Young Persons, and illustrated with 24 engravings. Fifth Edition. Price 6s. half-bound, morocco 12mo.
- OUTLINES OF IRISH HISTORY: written for the Use of Young Persons. With engravings. Price 4s. 6d. half-bd, 12mo.
- BEGINNINGS OF BRITISH BIOGRAPHY; being the Lives of One Hundred Persons eminent in English History. By the Rev. Isaac Taylor. Illustrated with 48 engravings. Price 7s. 6d. in 1 thick vol. half-bound. 12mo.
- BEGINNINGS OF EUROPEAN BIOGRAPHY; or, Sketches of the Lives of eminent Persons. By the Rev. ISAAC TAYLOR. In two vols.: viz.
- I. THE MIDDLE AGES. 24 engravings. Price 7s. half-bd, 12mo. п. THE LATTER AGES. 24 engravings. Price 7s. 6d. hf-bd, 12mo.
- HOW TO BE HAPPY; or, Fairy Gifts: to which is added, a SELECTION OF MORAL ALLEGORIES, from the best English Writers. Second Edition, with eight superior engravings. Price 4s. 6d. half-bound, 12mo.

The following Works are uniformly printed in 16mo., with numerous Illustrations to each, and handsomely bound in cloth.

ANECDOTES of KINGS, selected from History; or, Gertrude's Stories for Children. With engravings. Price 3s. 6d.

BIBLE ILLUSTRATIONS; or, a Description of Manners and Customs peculiar to the East, and especially Explanatory of the Holy Scriptures. By the Rev. B. H. DRAPER, With Illustrations. Fourth Edition. Revised by the Editor of "The Pictorial Bible." Price 48.

THE BOY'S FRIEND; or, the Maxims of a cheerful Old Man, by CARLTON BRUCE. Second Edition, with numerous engravings. Price 3s. 6d.

THE BRITISH HISTORY BRIEFLY TOLD, and a description of the Ancient Customs, Sports, and Pastimes of the English. Embellished with full-length Portraits of the Sovereigns of England in their proper Costumes, and 18 other engravings. Price 4s. 6d.

CHIT CHAT; or, Short Tales in Short Words. By a MOTHER, Author of "Always Happy." New Edition, enlarged. With 16 engravings. Price 3s. 6d.

CONVERSATIONS ON THE LIFE OF JESUS CHRIST, for the use of Children, by a MOTHER. A New Edition. With 12 engravings, the designs principally from the old Masters. Price 2s. 6d.

COSMORAMA. The Manners, Customs, and Costumes of all Nations of the World described. ByJ.Aspin. New Edition, with numerous Illustrations. Price 4s. plain, and 5s. 6d. coloured.

EASY LESSONS; or, Leading-Strings to Knowledge. In Three Parts. The First and Third Parts by A LADY, for her own Children; the Second Part arranged by the late Mrs. TRIMMER. New Edition; with 16 engravings. Price 3s. 6d.

FACTS TO CORRECT FAN-CIES; or, Short Narratives compiled from the Biography of Remarkable Women. By a Mo-THER. With engravings. Price 3s. 6d. THE FARM: a New Account of Rural Toils and Produce. By JEFFERYS TAYLOR. Second Edition. Illustrated with 8 engravings on steel and 26 woodcuts. Price 4s.

THE GARDEN; or, Frederick's Monthly Instructions for the Management and Formation of a Flower-Garden. Fourth Edition. With engravings of the Flowers in Bloom for each Month in the Year, &c. Price 3s. 6d. plain, or 6s. with the Flowers coloured.

INFANTINE KNOW-LEDGE: a Spelling Book, on a Popular Plan. By the Author of "The Child's Grammar." With numerous engravings.— Sixth Edition. Price 3s.; or 3s. 6d. coloured, half-bound.

THE JUVENILE RAMBLER; or, Sketches and Anecdotes of the People of various Countries, with Views of the Principal Cities of the World. New Edition. Price 3s. 6d.

KEY TO KNOWLEDGE; or, Things in Common Use simply and shortly Explained. By a MOTHER. Author of "Always Happy,"&c. Eleventh Edition. With numerous Illustrations. Price 3s. 6d. THE LADDER TO LEARN ING: a Collection of Fables, Original and Select, arranged progressively in words of One, Two, and Three Syllables. Edited and improved by the late Mrs. TRIMMER. With 79 cuts. Seventeenth Edition. 3s. 6d.

LITTLE LESSONS FOR LIT-TLE LEARNERS in words of One Syllable. By Mrs. Bar-Well. Fifth Edition, with numerous Illustrations. Price 3s. 6d.

LITTLE READER. With 20 wood-cuts. Price 2s. 6d.

LOUDON'S (Mrs.) GLIMPSES OF NATURE, AND OBJECTS OF INTEREST DESCRIBED DURING A VISIT TO THE ISLE OF WIGHT; designed to assist and encourage Young Persons in forming Habits of Observation. With 37 illustrations. Price 3s. 6d.

MAMMA'S BIBLE STORIES, for her Little Boys and Girls, adapted to the capacity of very Young Children. Sixth Edition. With engravings. Price 3s. 6d.

By the same Authoress, A SEQUEL TO MAMMA'S BIBLE STORIES, chiefly in words of Two Syllables, with 12 illustrations. Price 3s. 6d.

MAMMA'S LESSONS for her Little Boys and Girls. With 16 plates. Eighth Edition. Price 3s. 6d. plain; or 4s. 6d. half-bound, coloured.

MARMADUKE MULTI-PLY'S MERRY METHOD OF MAKING MINOR MA-THEMATICIANS; or, The Multiplication Table in Rhyme, With 69 engravings. Price 48, 6d, coloured.

THE MINE; or, Subterranean Wonders. An account of the Operations of the Miner, the Products of his Labours, and the Discovery of Mines. By the late Rev. ISAAC TAYLOR. Sixth Edition, with corrections and additions, by Mrs. LOUDON. Forty-one new woodcuts and steel engravings. Price 4s.

THE NATURAL HISTORY OF QUADRUPEDS. By F. SHOBERL. With numerous engravings, from drawings by T. LANDSEER. New Edition in one volume. Price 4s. 6d.

THE NATURAL HISTORY of BIRDS. By F. Shoberl. With numerous engravings, from drawings by T. Landseer. Price 4s.

NURSERY FABLES, Original and Select. With 19 engravings on wood. New Edition. Price 2s. 6d.

THE OCEAN; a Description of Wonders and Important Products of the Sea. Second Edition. With Illustrations of 37 Genera of Shells, by SOWERBY, and four steel and 50 wood engravings. Price 4s.

PAUL PRESTON'S VOY-AGES, TRAVELS, AND REMARKABLE ADVEN-TURES, Principally in Europe. With numerous Engravings. Second Edition. Price 3s. 6d.

THE PICTURESQUE PRI-MER; or, Useful Matter made Pleasing Pastime for Leisure Hours. By the Rev. W. FLETCHER. New Edition. With 100 woodcuts. Price 2s. 6d.

THE PUBLIC BUILDINGS OF LONDON AND WEST-MINSTER DESCRIBED. By F. SHOBERL. With 24 steel engravings. Price 4s. 6d.

HARRIS'S INSTRUCTIVE AND

SHORT TALES, written for Children. By Dame Truelove and her Friends. A new Edition, illustrated with 20 engravings. Price 3s. 6d,

THE SHIP; a Description of different kinds of Vessels, the Origin of Ship-building, a Brief Sketch of Naval Affairs, with the Distinctive Flags of different Nations, and numerous illustrative engravings. By the late Rev. ISAAC TAYLOR. Fifth Edition. Edited by M. H. BARKER, Esq. "The Old Sailor." Price 4s.

STORIES OF EDWARD AND HIS LITTLE FRIENDS.

By Madame EMMA DE K——, Author of "Holly Grange." With 16 illustrations on steel. Price 3s. 6d. or 4s. 6d. coloured.

STORIES SELECTED FROM THE HISTORY of FRANCE, from Clovis to the present time. Embellished with Portraits of Thirty-four of the Sovereigns of France, in their proper Costumes, also Four Engravings relating to Events of French History. Price 4s.

SUNDAY LESSONS FOR LITTLE CHILDREN. By Mrs. Barwell. Third Edition. Price 2s. 6d.

THREE SHILLINGS EACH, CLOTH.

With Frontispiece, or other Engravings.

THE CHAPTER OF KINGS. By Mr. Collins. With 38 engravings. (4s. coloured.)

CLAUDINE, a Swiss Tale. By the Author of "Always Happy," &c. New Edition. With engravings.

COUNSELS AT HOME; with Anecdotes, Tales, &c. Two engravings. ENGLISH HISTORY MADE EASY, on a Popular Plan. Second Edition. With engravings. 18mo.

FRUITS OF ENTERPRISE, exhibited in the Travels of Belzoni. Tenth Edition, 18mo.

FAMILIAR GEOGRAPHY. By the Abbé GAULTIER. With coloured Maps. Tenth Edition. Square, 16mo.

AMUSING PUBLICATIONS.

GEOGRAPHICAL AND HIS-TORICAL QUESTIONS. By the Abbé GAULTIER, forming a sequel to "Familiar Geography." 16mo. cloth.

INFANTINE KNOW-LEDGE. By the Author of "The Child's Grammar." Sixth Edition. With numerous woodcuts. Square, price 3s. plain (or 3s. 6d. half-bound, coloured).

THE LITTLE GRAMMA-RIAN; in a Series of Instructive Tales. By the Rev. W. FLETCHER. Second Edition. With 12 engravings, 18mo.

MORAL TALES. By a FATHER. With 2 engravings.

THE SON OF A GENIUS. By
Mrs. HOFLAND. Fourteenth
Edition, 18mo.

MRS. TRIMMER'S OLD TESTAMENT LESSONS. With 24 engravings.

MRS. TRIMMER'S NEW TESTAMENT LESSONS. With 40 engravings.

THE TWIN SISTERS; or, the Advantages of Religion. By Miss Sandham. Twenty-first Edition. 18mo.

A VISIT TO GROVE COTTAGE; and, The INDIAN CABINET OPENED. New Edition. 18mo.

WILLIAM TELL AND HO-FER THE TYROLESE. New Edition. With four engravings, 18mo.

HALF-A-CROWN EACH, CLOTH.

With Frontispiece or other Engravings.

ANECDOTES OF PETER
THE GREAT, Emperor of
Russia. Intended to exhibit
the result of Perseverance and
Laborious Exertion in overcoming Difficulties. By the
Author of "A Visit to my
Birthplace," &c. With a Frontispiece. 18mo.

ANCIENT GEOGRAPHY.
By the Abbé LANGLET DU
FRESNOY. A New Edition.
With coloured Maps, &c. 16mo.

ALWAYS HAPPY; or, Anecdotes of Felix and his Sister Serena. A Tale, written for her Children by a MOTHER. Thirteenth Edition. 18mo. CONVERSATIONS ON AS-TRONOMY. With several appropriate engravings. 16mo.

CONVERSATIONS ON THE LIFE OF CHRIST. By a Mo-THER. With 12 engravings. 16mo.

THE DAUGHTER OF A GENIUS. A Tale. By Mrs. Hop-LAND. Sixth Edition. 18mo.

EASY RHYMES. By a LADY. With a variety of elegant engravings. 18mo.

ELLEN THE TEACHER; a Tale for Youth. By Mrs. Hor-LAND. New Edition. 18mo.

EMILY'S REWARD; or, The Holiday Trip to Paris. By Mrs. Hofland, 18mo.

LESSONS OF WISDOM FOR THE YOUNG; or, Spring Mornings and Evenings. With 12 plates. By the Rev. W. FLET-CHER. Second Edition. 18mo. THE LITTLE READER.

With 20 wood-cuts, square.

NURSERY FABLES, Original and Select. With 19 cuts. New Edition. 16mo. PARLOUR COMMEN-TARIES ON THE CONSTITU-TION AND LAWS OF ENG-LAND. By J. TAYLOR. 12mo.

THE PICTURESQUE PRI-MER: or, Useful Matter made Pleasing Pastime. New Edition. With 120 cuts. 16mo.

HOME AMUSEMENTS; consisting of Riddles, Charades, Conundrums, Parlour Games, and Forfeits. By Peter Puzzle, Esq. of Rebus Hall. 16mo.

THE RIVAL CRUSOES; also, A VOYAGE TO NORWAY, and the FISHERMAN'S COT-TAGE. Fourth Edition. 18mo. THE STUDENTS: or. Biogra-

THE STUDENTS; or, Biography of the Grecian Philosophers. With frontispiece, 12mo.

SUNDAY LESSONS FOR LITTLE CHILDREN. By Mrs. Barwell. Third Edition. 16mo.

THEODORE; or, The Crusaders. A Tale. By Mrs. Hor-LAND. Seventh Edition. With a frontispiece. 18mo.

AMUSING PUBLICATIONS.

TWO SHILLINGS, WITH FRONTISPIECES, ETC.

LE BABILLARD; an Amusing Introduction to the French Language, by a French Lady. Third Edit., with 16 engravings.

THE CHILD'S DUTY. Dedicated by a Mother to her Children. Second Edition.

THE HISTORY OF PRINCE LEE BOO. Nineteenth Edition.

MILL'S HISTORY of ROME. With 48 engravings. 48mo. roan, or 1s. 6d. boards.

MORE TALES FOR IDLE HOURS. New Edition.

NINA, an Icelandic Tale. By the Author of "Always Happy," &c. New Edition. RHODA; or, The Excellence of Charity. By the Author of "The Cottage on the Common," &c. With three engravings.

SPRING FLOWERS AND THE MONTHLY MONITOR; or, Easy Lessons, adapted to every Season of the Year; with Lessons for Sundays, and Hymns. By Mrs. Ritson.

WELCOME VISITOR, or The Good Uncle; a Collection of Original Stories, containing several well-authenticated Anecdotes, displaying striking traits of Virtue and Heroism in Early Life. Third Edition.

Nursery Books. One Shilling each.

With Coloured Plates (cloth, 1s. 3d.).

1. THE ALPHABET OF GOODY TWO-SHOES; "by learning which, she soon got rich."

she soon got rich."

2. CINDERELLA: or, The Little Glass Slipper.

3. COCK-ROBIN; a very pretty Painted Toy, for little Girl or little Boy.

4. COSTUMES OF DIFFERENT NATIONS Illustrated.

5. THE CRIES OF LONDON; or, Sketches of various Characters in the Metropolis. 6. THE COURTSHIP, MAR-RIAGE, AND PIC-NIC DINNER OF COCK ROBIN AND JENNY WREN.

 THE COWSLIP; or, Cautionary Stories in Verse, with 32 new woodcuts, plain. 18mo. (1s. 6d. coloured.)

8. THE DAISY; or, Cautionary Stories in Verse, with 30 engravings on wood, plain. 18mo. (1s. 6d. coloured.)

AMUSING PUBLICATIONS.

- DAME PARTLETT'S FARM, An Account of the good Life she led, and the Riches she obtained by Industry.
- GRANDMAMMA'S RHYMES FOR THE NURSERY. With 24 superior wood-cuts. Plain.
- 11. DAME TROT AND HER CAT.
- 12. THE HISTORY OF THE AP-PLE PIE. Written by Z. With Dame Dearlove's Ditties for the
- 13. THE HISTORY OF THE HOUSE THAT JACK BUILT.

Nursery.

- 14. THE HISTORY OF PRIM-ROSE PRETTY-FACE. Plain.
- 15. THE HOLIDAY PRESENT.
 With 4 plates, plain.
- 16. THE INFANT'S FRIEND; or, Easy Reading Lessons.
- THE INFANT'S GRAMMAR;
 or, A Pic-nic Party of the Parts of Speech.
- 18. LITTLE RHYMES FOR LIT-TLE FOLKS. By the Author of "The Infant's Friend," "Easy Rhymes," &c.
- MARGERY MEANWELL; or the Interesting Story of Goody Two-Shoes, rendered into familiar Verse. With 20 engravings. Plain.
- 20. THE MONKEY'S FROLIC,&c.
- 21. MOTHER HUBBARD AND HER DOG.
- 22. NURSERY DITTIES, from the Lips of Mrs. Lullaby. With illustrations by Leech. Plain.
- 23. THE OLD WOMAN AND HER PIG.

- 24. THE PEACOCK AT HOME; with the BUTTERFLY'S BALL; and the FANCY FAIR.
- 25. A PEEP AT THE STARS, in easy Rhymes.
- 26. PORTRAITS AND CHARAC-TERS OF THE KINGS OF ENG-LAND. Part I.
- 27. PORTRAITS AND CHARAC-TERS OF THE KINGS OF ENG-LAND. Part II.
- 28. PETER PIPER'S PRACTICAL PRINCIPLES OF PLAIN AND PERFECT PRONUNCIATION. To which is added, a Collection of Entertaining Conundrums.
- 29. PUSS IN BOOTS; or, The Master-Cat.
- 30. THE ROYAL PRIMER; or, High Road to Learning; and The RATIONAL ALPHABET. 31. SIMPLE STORIES. in Words
- of One Syllable. By the Author of "Stories of Old Daniel,"
- 32. THE SNOWDROP; or, Poetic Trifles for Little Folks.
- 33. TAKE YOUR CHOICE; or, The Alphabet Community.
- 34. TOMMY TRIP'S MUSEUM of BEASTS, Part I. 35. TOMMY TRIP'S MUSEUM
- of BEASTS. Part II.
- 36. TOMMY TRIP'S MUSEUM of BIRDS. Part I.
- 37. TOMMY TRIP'S MUSEUM of BIRDS. Part II.
- 38. WALKS WITH MAMMA; or, Stories in Words of One Syllable.
- 39. WHITTINGTON AND HIS CAT.
 40. THE WORD BOOK; or,
 Stories, chiefly in Three Letters.

THE ABBÉ GAULTIER'S GEOGRAPHICAL WORKS.

To obviate the inconvenience of the folio size and form of the original work of the Abbé Gaultier, entitled, "A Complete Course of Geography, by means of Instructive Games," it is now divided into Three portions, which may be purchased separately as follows.*

- I. FAMILIAR GEOGRAPHY, with a concise Treatise on the Artificial Sphere, and Two coloured Maps, illustrative of the principal Geographical Terms. Tenth Edition. Price 3s. cloth, 16mo.
- II. GEOGRAPHICAL AND HISTORICAL QUESTIONS, referring, by characteristic and distinguishing marks, to the most remarkable places in the World; with 3 small coloured Charts of the comparative heights of Mountains and lengths of Rivers. Price 3s. in cloth, 16mo.
- III. An ATLAS, adapted to the Abbé Gaultier's Geographical Games, consisting of Eight Maps Coloured, and Seven in Outline, &c. Price 15s. half-bound, folio.
- * For the purpose of playing the Games, a set of Counters, on which the mass of Kingdoms, Seas, Rivers, &c., are printed, may be had, price 6s. in a box.
- BUTLER'S OUTLINE MAPS, and KEY; or, Geographical and Biographical Exercises: designed for the Use of Young Persons, By the late WILLIAM BUTLER. Enlarged by his Son, J. O. BUTLER. The Twenty-fifth Edition, with a set of coloured outline Maps. Price 4s.
- An ABRIDGEMENT OF ANCIENT GEOGRAPHY, divided into Short Lessons in the form of Questions and Answers, intended as a Sequel to the "Geography for Children." Written by the Abbé Langlet du Fresnoy. With a Map. Second Edition. Price 2s. 6d. 16mo, cloth.
- A SHORT INTRODUCTION TO GEOGRAPHY, containing a Description of the several parts of the known World, for the Use of Schools. Twenty-fourth Edition, carefully revised and corrected. By J. Aspin. Price 9d. sewed.

Mrs. Lobechild's Grammatical Works.

- THE CHILD'S GRAMMAR. By the late Lady Fenn, under the assumed name of Mrs. Lovechild. Forty-first Edition. 18mo. Price 9d. cloth.
- THE MOTHER'S GRAMMAR: a Sequel to "The Child's Grammar," Twenty-first Edition, 18mo. Price 1s, cloth.
- PARSING LESSONS FOR CHILDREN, resolved into their Elements, for the assistance of Parents and Teachers; and adapted to the Child's and Mother's Grammars. Eighth Edition, carefully revised. 18mo. Price 1s. 3d. sewed.

The first of these little Treatises is intended to be the young pupil's manual; and the greater part of it is to be committed to memory: the Second is designed to remain some time in the possession of the teacher for her own occasional use; the whole, to assist laddes in teaching the rudiments of Grammar, not only to the female part of their family, but their little sons, before they go to school.

- BATTLE FIELDS. A Graphic Guide to the places described in the History of England as the scenes of such events; with the situation of the principal Naval Engagements fought on the Coast of the British Empire. By Mr. WAUTHIER, Geographer. Price on a large sheet, 5s.; in case, 7s. 6d.; or, mounted on oak and varnished. 12s.
- A STATISTICAL SUMMARY OF ALL THE NATIONS AND STATES IN EUROPE, compiled from the latest returns and most authentic sources, comprising the Government, Capitals, Area in Square Miles, Population, Revenues, Public Debt, Standing Army, &c., with Historical Notices. By G. C. PEMBERTON, Esq. On one sheet Imperial. Price 2s. 6d.
- ASPIN'S IMPROVED MOVEABLE PLANISPHERE; or, Cheap and Portable substitute for the Celestial Globe, shewing at any proposed hour the actual state of the Siderial Heavens. With a Book of Directions, and a Series of Problems. Price 10s. 6d. coloured and mounted on card; or on mahogany, and varnished, 15s.







